# HAUSDORFF DIMENSIONS OF PERTURBATIONS OF A CONFORMAL ITERATED FUNCTION SYSTEM VIA THERMODYNAMIC FORMALISM

TUSHAR DAS, LIOR FISHMAN, DAVID SIMMONS, AND MARIUSZ URBAŃSKI

Dedicated to Abram Samoilovitch Besicovitch (1891–1970) and Vojtěch Jarník (1897–1970)

ABSTRACT. We consider small perturbations of a conformal iterated function system (CIFS) produced by either adding or removing some generators with small derivative from the original. We establish a formula, utilizing transfer operators arising from the thermodynamic formalism à la Sinai–Ruelle–Bowen, which may be solved to express the Hausdorff dimension of the perturbed limit set in series form: either exactly, or as an asymptotic expansion. Significant applications include strengthening Hensley's asymptotic formula from 1992, which improved on earlier bounds due to Jarník and Kurzweil, for the Hausdorff dimension of the set of real numbers whose continued fraction expansion partial quotients are all  $\leq N$ ; as well as its counterpart for reals whose partial quotients are all  $\geq N$  due to Good from 1941.

#### **CONTENTS**

1.	Introduction	2
2.	An abstract operator formula	5
3.	Point-accumulating conformal iterated function systems	8
4.	Statement of main result	14
5.	Spectral gap in the case $\tilde{c} > 0$	17
6.	Proof of Theorem 4.1	19
7.	Simplifications in special cases	24
8.	Solving (4.1): a motivating computation	28
9.	Gauss IFS Examples	30
10.	Directions to further research	41
App	pendix A. Computation of coefficients	42
App	pendix B. Definition of a conformal iterated function system (CIFS)	45
References		46

Key words and phrases. Thermodynamic formalism, transfer operator, Hausdorff dimension, iterated function system, IFS, conformal map, Gauss map, continued fractions, dynamical systems, fractal geometry, functional analysis, perturbation theory, spectral theory.

### 1. Introduction

We are approaching the close of a century of mathematics, following Hausdorff's seminal work [39], dedicated to a panoply of measure- and dimension-theoretic research regarding the intricate fractal geometry of sets arising from classical Diophantine approximation and its manifold avatars. Abram Samoilovitch Besicovitch and Vojtěch Jarník were among the pioneers who first broke ground at this fertile interface of algebra (number theory) and analysis (geometric measure theory), and this paper is dedicated to the beautiful vistas exposed by their mathematics. Their influential investigations have led to a blossoming area broadly known as *metric Diophantine approximation*, with several connections to classical number theoretic questions, as well as more surprising links to mathematical physics, dynamical systems, fractal geometry, analytic combinatorics, computer science, wireless communication, etc. – see [6, 7, 13, 23, 27, 29, 33, 44, 48, 57, 62, 64, 71, 81, 84] and the references therein for a sampling of such relationships.

We begin with a brief description of two theorems in this vein, which follow from our more general results that are described in later sections. Recall (e.g., [56,77]) that an irrational number x is called *badly approximable* if there exists  $\varepsilon>0$  such that  $|x-p/q|\geq \varepsilon/q^2$  for any rational p/q. To study Diophantine properties it suffices to consider irrationals in the open unit interval, and for any irrational  $x\in[0,1]$  we may abbreviate its simple (or regular) continued fraction expansion as follows

$$x = \frac{1}{a_1 + \frac{1}{a_2 + \frac{1}{a_2 + \cdots}}} = [a_1, a_2, a_3, \dots],$$

where the sequence of positive integers  $a_i = a_i(x)$  are known as the partial quotients (or continued fraction entries/digits) of x. It is well-known ([77, Theorem 5F] or [12, Theorem 1.9]) that x is badly approximable if and only if the partial quotients in its continued fraction expansion are bounded. Thus given a finite subset  $I \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  the set  $\Lambda_I$  of all numbers in [0,1] whose continued fraction expansions have partial quotients that belong to I form a subset of the badly approximable numbers. Such sets  $\Lambda_I$  are Cantor sets that may be described as conformal iterated function system (CIFS) limit sets [18,66], or as cookie-cutter (Cantor) sets, after Dennis Sullivan [4]. The study of their Hausdorff dimension has attracted the attention of several researchers over many decades – for a small sampling of such work across a broad spectrum of fields see [14,15,17,20–22,30,34,35,41–43,45,50–53,59,70] and the references therein. In contrast, estimates and rigorous dimension computation for Cantor sets that arise from infinite subsets  $I \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  (and the measure-theoretic study of limit sets of infinite CIFS, more generally) present a variety of new challenges and there is plenty left to uncover in this vein, see [19,31,32,36,40,66,67,73] for some progress in this vein.

Perhaps the earliest paper on the Hausdorff dimension of continued fraction Cantor sets was Jarník's paradigmatic [49], in which he established that for every  $N \ge 8$ 

$$1 - \frac{4}{N \log(2)} \le \dim_H(F_{\le N}) \le 1 - \frac{1}{8N \log(N)},$$

where  $\dim_H$  denotes Hausdorff dimension and  $F_{\leq N}$  denotes the set of all numbers in [0,1] whose continued fraction expansions have partial quotients all  $\leq N$ . As a corollary Jarník was able to prove his seminal result on full Hausdorff dimension of the set of badly approximable numbers<sup>1</sup>, which may be described as an increasing union of the  $F_{\leq N}$  sets.

Over two decades later in 1951, Jarník's student Jaroslav Kurzweil was able to improve the former bounds in his doctoral work by proving [63, Theorem VIII] that

(1.1) 
$$1 - \frac{0.99}{N} \le \dim_H(F_{\le N}) \le 1 - \frac{0.25}{N}$$

for  $N \ge 1000$ . This was the state of the art for the next four decades until the breakthrough work of Doug Hensley who leveraged functional analytic techniques<sup>2</sup> to improve on Kurzweil's result by proving [45] (cf. [12, Chapter 5]) that

(1.2) 
$$\dim_H(F_{\leq N}) = 1 - \frac{6}{\pi^2} \frac{1}{N} - \frac{72}{\pi^4} \frac{\log(N)}{N^2} + O\left(\frac{1}{N^2}\right)$$

Note that (1.2) is stronger than (1.1) since  $.25 < 6/\pi^2 < .99$ , and also has an estimate on the error term o(1/N).

Hensley's haunting formula (1.2) leads to some natural questions: what does the remainder term  $O(1/N^2)$  look like? Can it be written as  $c/N^2 + o(1/N^2)$  for some coefficient c? And if so, what does the  $o(1/N^2)$  here look like: do more logarithms appear? The following theorem is an example of our main result, Theorem 4.1, applied to the sequence of sets  $(F_{\leq N})$ :

**Theorem 1.1.** For each  $p \ge 1$ , the Hausdorff dimension of  $F_{\le N}$  can be estimated via the formula

(1.3) 
$$\dim_{H}(F_{\leq N}) = 1 + \sum_{i=1}^{p-1} \sum_{j=0}^{i-1} c_{i,j} \frac{\log^{j}(N)}{N^{i}} + O_{p}\left(\frac{\log^{p-1}(N)}{N^{p}}\right),$$

where  $c_{i,j} \in \mathbb{R}$  are effectively computable constants. Here  $O_p$  means that the implied constant of O may depend on p.

Note that by (1.2) we have  $c_{1,0}=-6/\pi^2$  and  $c_{2,1}=-72/\pi^4$ . Our methods yield explicit formulas for the subsequent coefficients  $c_{i,j}$  (see Appendix A for some example computations), but the formulas for  $c_{2,0}$  and further coefficients depend on a certain operator Q on the space of Hölder-continuous functions on [0,1], defined in terms of the Gauss–Kuzmin–Wirsing operator L (cf. Theorem 2.1). This operator is given as a series and it appears to be quite challenging to give

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Jarník's result inspired a myriad extensions, see e.g. [5, 26, 33, 72, 76, 82].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Hensley's approach arose from a distinguished line of research on Gauss's problem on the distribution of continued fraction partial quotients by Kuzmin, Levy, Szüsz, Wirsing, Babenko, Mayer and several others, see Knuth's [58, pp.362–366] for a beautiful, albeit already dated, survey.

a closed formula for its value on explicitly given functions such as  $\mathbb{1}(x) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} 1$ . In particular, the precise formula for  $c_{2,0}$  in terms of Q is quite complicated; see (A.2). However, the sequence of coefficients  $(c_{i,i-1})$  turns out to have a relatively simple expression:

(1.4) 
$$c_{i,i-1} = -\frac{2^{i-1} \cdot i^{i-2}}{(i-1)!} \left(\frac{6}{\pi^2}\right)^i.$$

This includes the two coefficients  $c_{1,0}$  and  $c_{2,1}$  computed by Hensley.

Our techniques can be used to estimate the Hausdorff dimensions of many different sequences of sets coming from conformal iterated function systems, such as sequences of sets  $(F_N)$  where each  $F_N$  is specified by restricting continued fraction partial quotients to lie in some set  $E_N \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ , such that the sequence of characteristic functions  $(\mathbb{1}_{E_N})$  converges pointwise to some characteristic function  $\mathbb{1}_E$  (we denote such convergence by  $E_N \to E$ ). In some cases, the formula for the Hausdorff dimension coming from Theorem 4.1 ends up being much more complicated than (1.3).

For instance, consider  $F_{\geq N}$ , the set of elements of [0,1] whose continued fraction partial quotients are all  $\geq N$ . The earliest estimates on the dimension of  $F_{\geq N}$  were obtained in the late 1930s by Irving John (Jack) Good. Good's work [37,38], which was undertaken on Besicovitch's suggestion and awarded the prestigious Smith Prize at the University of Cambridge [3], has since inspired a wealth of research on the dimension theory of continued fraction Cantor sets. Good proved that for  $N \geq 20$ 

$$\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2\log(N+2)} \le \dim_H(F_{\ge N}) \le \frac{1}{2} + \frac{\log\log(N-1)}{2\log(N-1)}.$$

Now applying our main result, Theorem 4.1, to the sequence of sets  $(F_{\geq N})$  leads to the following strengthening of Good's result:

**Theorem 1.2.** For each  $p \ge 1$ , the Hausdorff dimension of  $F_{\ge N}$  can be estimated via the formula

(1.5) 
$$\dim_{H}(F_{\geq N}) = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2\log(N)} \left[ \log\log(N) - \log\log\log(N) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\ell=1}^{k} c_{k,\ell} \frac{\log^{\ell}\log\log(N)}{\log^{k}\log(N)} + \sum_{i=1}^{p-1} \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k=-j}^{\infty} \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=-j}^{j+k} c_{i,j,k,\ell} \frac{\log^{\ell}\log\log(N)}{N^{i}\log^{j}(N)\log^{k}\log(N)} \right] + O_{p}\left(\frac{\log\log(N)}{N^{p}\log(N)}\right)$$

where  $c_{k,\ell} \in \mathbb{Q}$  and  $c_{i,j,k,\ell} \in \mathbb{Q}$  are appropriate constants that can be computed explicitly. For example,  $c_{1,1} = -1$ ,  $c_{2,1} = 1$ ,  $c_{2,2} = -1/2$ ,  $c_{3,1} = -1$ ,  $c_{3,2} = 3/2$ ,  $c_{3,3} = -1/3$ , and  $c_{1,1,-1,0} = 1/2$ .

**Outline for the sequel.** In Section 2 we prove a general result in the setting of Banach spaces that will introduce the key equation leading to (1.3) and (1.5). In Section 3 we introduce a class of conformal iterated function systems that includes the class of Gauss IFSes, to which our results will apply. In Section 4 we state our main theorem, of which Theorems 1.1 and 1.2 are special cases. In Section 6 we prove this theorem, and in Section 9 we provide examples where the

theorem applies, in particular Proposition 9.4 which corresponds to the above theorems. Sections 5, 7, and 8 contain auxiliary results necessary for these proofs and examples. Section 10 concludes with some directions for further research. Finally, in Appendix A we compute the coefficients  $c_{i,i-1}$  and  $c_{2,0}$  appearing in Theorem 1.1.

Conventions. We use the standard Landau notation  $O(\cdot)$ ,  $\Theta(\cdot)$ , as well as writing  $A \lesssim B$  when A = O(B) and  $A \equiv_X B$  when B - A = O(X). If  $A \lesssim B \lesssim A$ , we write  $A \asymp B$ . Recall that  $\mathbb{Q}[x]$  denotes the ring of polynomials in the variable x with coefficients in  $\mathbb{Q}$ . All linear operators between Banach spaces are assumed to be bounded. By default balls are closed, e.g.  $B_{\mathbb{C}}(0,1) \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| \leq 1\}$ , and we denote open balls with  $\circ$ , e.g.  $B_{\mathbb{C}}^{\circ}(0,1) \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < 1\}$ . Note that we use the Iverson bracket notation in several places in the text:  $[\Phi] = 1$  when  $\Phi$  is true and  $[\Phi] = 0$  when  $\Phi$  is false. The notation  $F_{|ij}$  represents the partial derivative of the function F with respect to the ith coordinate. Similarly  $F_{|ij}$  denotes a double derivative achieved by taking a partial derivative with respect to the ith coordinate; and  $F_{|ijk}$  denotes a triple derivative, etc.

Acknowledgements. This research began on 12<sup>th</sup> March 2018 when the authors met at the American Institute of Mathematics via their SQuaRE program. We thank the institute and their staff for their hospitality and excellent working conditions. In particular, we thank Estelle Basor for her continued encouragement and support. The first-named author was supported in part by a 2017-2018 Faculty Research Grant from the University of Wisconsin-La Crosse. He thanks the scientific and organizing committees of the *One-world Fractals and Related Fields* seminar, in particular Stéphane Seuret and Julien Barral, for the opportunity to speak about this work at his first virtual research lecture. The third-named author was supported in part by the EPSRC Programme Grant EP/J018260/1, and also by a fellowship from the Royal Society. The fourthnamed author was supported in part by a Simons Foundation Grant 581668.

## 2. An abstract operator formula

The idea for proving Theorem 1.1 is to consider the Perron–Frobenius operators  $L, L_N : C([0,1]) \to C([0,1])$  defined by the formulas

(2.1) 
$$Lf(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(n+x)^2} f\left(\frac{1}{n+x}\right)$$

(2.2) 
$$L_N f(x) = \sum_{n=1}^N \frac{1}{(n+x)^{2\delta_N}} f\left(\frac{1}{n+x}\right)$$

where  $\delta_N$  is the Hausdorff dimension of  $F_{\leq N}$ . Note that L is the well-known Gauss–Kuzmin–Wirsing operator<sup>3</sup>. By well-known dynamical results (see §3), the definition  $\delta_N = \dim_H(F_{\leq N})$  can be encoded as the assertion that the spectral radius of  $L_N$  is 1, which is furthermore equivalent

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$ The operator L is variously referred to in the literature as the transfer operator for Gauss's continued fraction map, or as the Perron–Frobenius, Ruelle–Perron–Frobenius, Ruelle–Mayer, or Ruelle operator, etc.

to the assertion that  $L_N$  fixes a positive function  $g_N$  and the dual operator  $L_N^*$  fixes a positive measure  $\mu_N$ . (Similarly, L fixes the positive function g(x) = 1/(1+x), and its dual  $L^*$  fixes  $\mu$ , the Lebesgue measure on [0,1].) We wish to convert this assertion into a formula involving  $L_N$ , which in turn determines a relation between N and  $\delta_N$ . To this end we introduce some notation.

**Notation.** Let  $\mathcal{B}$  be a complex Banach space, let  $\mathcal{B}^*$  be its dual space, i.e. the Banach space of all bounded linear functionals from  $\mathcal{B}$  to  $\mathbb{C}$ , and let  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{B})$  denote the Banach space of all bounded linear operators from  $\mathcal{B}$  to  $\mathcal{B}$ . Fix  $f \in \mathcal{B}$  and  $\sigma \in \mathcal{B}^*$ . Then  $\sigma f$  denotes the value of  $\sigma$  on f, while  $f\sigma$  (which is our shorthand for  $f \otimes \sigma$ ) denotes the element of  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{B})$  defined as  $(f\sigma)f' \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} (\sigma f')f$ . Note that  $f\sigma$  is a projection when  $\sigma f = 1$ . If  $\sigma f \neq 0$ , then  $(\sigma f)^{-1}f\sigma$  is a projection, while if  $\sigma f = 0$ , then  $f\sigma$  is a nilpotent operator of order 2. If  $f \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{B})$ , then  $f \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{B})$  is the element of  $f \in \mathcal{B}^*$  defined by the formula  $f \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{B})$ . The map  $f \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{B})$  from  $f \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{B})$  is called the dual operator of  $f \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{B})$ . However, we avoid using the notation  $f \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{B})$  in formulas, so we will write  $f \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{B})$  than  $f \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{B})$  corresponding to column, row, and square matrices, respectively. In particular, the associative laws

$$(\sigma L)f = \sigma(Lf),$$
  $(f\sigma)f' = f(\sigma f'),$   $\sigma'(f\sigma) = (\sigma'f)\sigma$ 

all hold by definition. If Lf = f we call f a right fixed point of L, and if  $\sigma L = \sigma$  we call  $\sigma$  a left fixed point of L (or equivalently, a fixed point of the dual operator  $L^*$ ).

**Theorem 2.1.** Let  $\mathcal{B}$  be a Banach space. Suppose that L and L' in  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{B})$  have respective right fixed points g, g', and let  $\mu \in \mathcal{B}^*$  be a left fixed point of L, such that  $\mu g, \mu g' \neq 0$ . Let

$$R \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} L - cg\mu \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{B}),$$

where  $c = 1/\mu g$ , and let

$$\Delta \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} L' - L \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{B}),$$

and  $\rho(R) < 1$ , where  $\rho$  denotes the spectral radius. Also suppose that

(2.3) 
$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \|R^n\| \cdot \|\Delta\| < 1.$$

Then

(2.4) 
$$\sum_{p=0}^{\infty} \mu \Delta (Q\Delta)^p g = 0,$$

where  $Q \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} R^n \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{B})$ . Note that Q is well-defined since  $\rho(R) < 1$ .

**Remark.** The hypothesis that g' is a right fixed point of L' such that  $\mu g' \neq 0$  may be replaced by the hypothesis that  $\mu'$  is a left fixed point of L' such that  $\mu'g \neq 0$ , with minimal changes to the proof. (Both hypotheses are satisfied in our applications of Theorem 2.1.)

*Proof.* The idea is to start with the equation L'g' = g', expressing the fact that g' is a right fixed point for L', then multiply on the left by a measure  $\mu'$  to get a scalar equation, and finally rearrange to get (2.4). Specifically, let

$$\mu' \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \mu (L' - cg\mu)^m = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \mu (R + \Delta)^m$$

(We will show later that this series converges in  $\mathcal{B}^*$ .) We have  $\mu' = \mu + \mu'(L' - cg\mu)$ , and thus

$$\mu'L' - \mu' = \mu'L' - (\mu + \mu'(L' - cg\mu)) = (c\mu'g - 1)\mu.$$

Multiplying on the right by g' and using the fact that g' is fixed gives

$$0 = \mu' L' q' - \mu' q' = (c\mu' q - 1)(\mu q')$$

and thus since  $\mu g' \neq 0$ ,

$$\mu g = 1/c = \mu' g = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \mu (R + \Delta)^m g.$$

Now by the distributive law  $\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} (R+\Delta)^m$  is the sum of all finite ordered products of R and  $\Delta$ , i.e.

$$\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} (R+\Delta)^m = \sum_{p=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n_1,\dots,n_p} R^{n_1} \Delta R^{n_2} \cdots R^{n_{p-1}} \Delta R^{n_p} = \sum_{p=1}^{\infty} (Q\Delta)^{p-1} Q.$$

These three series all converge absolutely since

$$\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \| (R + \Delta)^m \| \le \sum_{p=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n_1, \dots, n_p} \| R^{n_1} \Delta R^{n_2} \cdots R^{n_{p-1}} \Delta R^{n_p} \|$$

$$\le \sum_{p=1}^{\infty} \left( \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \| R^n \| \right)^p \| \Delta \|^{p-1} < \infty.$$
(2.3)

Note that this implies that the series defining  $\mu'$  converges.

Thus, we have

$$\mu g = \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} \mu(Q\Delta)^p Qg = \mu Qg + \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} \mu Q\Delta(Q\Delta)^p Qg.$$

Since g is a right fixed point for L, we have  $Rg = Lg - cg\mu g = g - g = 0$ , and thus Qg = g. Similarly, since  $\mu$  is a left fixed point for L, we have  $\mu R = 0$  and  $\mu Q = \mu$ . Finally, using the identities Qg = g and  $\mu Q = \mu$  in the previous displayed equation, we derive (2.4).

**Remark.** Since Rg = 0 and  $\mu R = 0$  (see the last paragraph of the proof above), it follows that for all  $n \ge 1$  we have

$$L^{n} = (R + cg\mu)^{n} = R^{n} + (cg\mu)^{n} = R^{n} + cg\mu,$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Plugging in the formula  $\mu'g = \mu g$  proven below, it follows that  $\mu'$  is a left fixed point of L'. However, this fact is irrelevant to the proof, except as an indicator that our choice of  $\mu'$  is not as arbitrary as it may initially appear to be.

and thus

$$Q = I + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (L^n - cg\mu).$$

The idea of the proof of Theorem 1.1 is now to apply Theorem 2.1 with L as in (2.1) and  $L' = L_N$  as in (2.2), and then to solve the resulting formula (2.4) for  $\delta_N$ . This determines the sought-after relation between N and  $\delta_N$ . We refer to the subsequent sections for details on how this is implemented. The idea of the proof of Theorem 1.2 is similar, except instead of taking L as in (2.1) we take Lf(x) = f(0), or equivalently  $L = h\nu$  where  $\nu$  is the Dirac point mass at 0 and h = 1 (the motivation for this choice will become clear in subsequent sections, in particular Lemma 6.3 and Remark 9.2).

In the case where L and L' are Perron–Frobenius operators of similarity IFSes, (2.4) reduces to the Moran–Hutchinson equation for the latter IFS (assuming that for the former), see Proposition 7.5.

#### 3. Point-accumulating conformal iterated function systems

The sets  $F_{\leq N}$  and  $F_{\geq N}$  can be viewed as limit sets of certain *conformal iterated function systems*, or CIFSes. CIFSes were introduced by Mauldin and Urbański [66] (see Appendix B for their definition), and their generalizations *conformal graph directed Markov systems* (CGDMSes) were studied in [68]. We will consider a certain class of CIFSes, which we define as follows.

**Definition 3.1.** Fix a quintuple (U, V, u, v, q) such that

- $U \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  is a bounded open set containing 0;
- $V \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  is a bounded connected open set;
- $u: U \times V \to V$  is an real-analytic map such that
  - the family of maps  $(u_b)_{b\in U}$  defined by

$$V \ni x \mapsto u_b(x) = u(b, x) \in V$$

is conformal and uniformly contracting (i.e. for each  $(b,x) \in U \times V$ , the map  $u_b'(x)$  is a similarity whose dilatation constant  $|u_b'(x)|$  is  $\leq \lambda$  for some uniform constant  $\lambda < 1$ ), and

- $\bigcup_{b\in U} u_b(V)$  is precompact in V; and
- $v: U \times V \to \mathbb{R}$  is a bounded real-analytic function and q > 0 is a parameter such that for all  $b \in U$  and  $x \in V$ ,

(3.1) 
$$|u_b'(x)| = |b|^q e^{v(b,x)}.$$

Note that (3.1) implies that  $u_0$  is constant; for convenience, in what follows we assume that this constant is 0, i.e. that  $u_0(x) = 0$  for all x. Formula (3.1) also implies that for all  $x \in V$ , q is the order of the analytic function  $b \mapsto u_b(x)$  at 0.

Then if  $S \subseteq U \setminus \{0\}$  is a set whose only accumulation point, if any, is 0, then the family of maps  $(u_b)_{b \in S}$  is called a *point-accumulating conformal iterated function system (PACIFS)* over

(U, V, u, v, q). For conciseness we will usually omit "over (U, V, u, v, q)" when referring to a PACIFS  $(u_b)_{b \in S}$ .

The *limit set* of the PACIFS  $(u_b)_{b\in S}$  is denoted by  $\Lambda_S$ , and is the image of the projection map  $\pi: \Sigma \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} S^{\mathbb{N}} \to V$  defined by the formula

$$\pi(\omega) = \lim_{n \to \infty} u_{\omega_1} \circ \cdots \circ u_{\omega_n}(x_0),$$

where  $x_0 \in V$  is an arbitrary point. This limit exists and is independent of  $x_0$  because the maps  $(u_b)_{b \in S}$  are uniformly contracting and V is connected, and  $\Lambda_S \subseteq V$  because of the assumption that  $\bigcup_{b \in U} u_b(V)$  is precompact in V.

**Remark.** Our results also hold in the following more general setting:  $U = \bigcup_{i=1}^k (U_i \times \{i\}) \cup F$ , where each  $U_i$  is a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^{d_i}$  containing 0, F is a finite set, V is a bounded connected open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , u,v are analytic on each  $U_i \times \{i\} \times V$  and on each  $\{b\} \times V$  for  $b \in F$ , and (3.1) is replaced by the formula  $|u'_{b,i}(x)| = |b|^{q_i} e^{v_i(b,x)}$ , where  $b \in U_i$  and  $x \in V$ . This can be proven with only minor modifications (but notational complications) to the definitions and proofs.

**Remark.** Our PACIFSes are not always CIFSes in the sense of [66, 68], because they do not necessarily satisfy the open set condition (OSC), see Appendix B. However, in Definition 3.7 we define the class of OSC PACIFSes, and these are CIFSes in the sense of [66, 68].

3.1. **Examples of CIFS that are not PACIFS.** Though this paper is concerned with PACIFSes, we include two non-examples for the benefit of our readers who are familiar with the well-studied notion of CIFSes.

**Example 3.2.** Let C be the middle-thirds Cantor set, and let  $\mathcal{I}$  be the unique disjoint collection of intervals such that

$$[0,1] \setminus C = \bigcup_{I \in \mathcal{T}} \operatorname{Int}(I).$$

For each  $I \in \mathcal{I}$ , let  $u_I : [0,1] \to I$  be the unique order-preserving bijective similarity between [0,1] and I. Then  $(u_I)_{I \in \mathcal{I}}$  is a similarity IFS (and thus also a conformal IFS), but it cannot be realized as a PACIFS. Indeed, if  $(u_b)_{b \in S}$  is a PACIFS then  $u_b \to p$  uniformly for some point p (with p=0 according to our convention), but if  $(I_n)$  is a sequence of distinct elements of  $\mathcal{I}$ , then the limit of the sequence  $(u_{I_n})$  can be any point in C, and in particular is not limited to a single point.

**Example 3.3.** For each n let  $u_n:[0,1]\to[0,1]$  be defined by

$$u_n(x) = \frac{1+x^n}{2^n}.$$

Then  $(u_n)_{n\geq 1}$  is a conformal IFS, since the sequence  $(u_n)$  is bounded in the  $\mathcal{C}^2$  norm. However, it cannot be obviously realized as a PACIFS, since this would require a finite-dimensional space U to be able to parameterize the sequence  $(u_n)$ .

3.2. **Symbolic and geometric Perron–Frobenius operators.** For the remainder of this section, we fix (U, V, u, v, q) and let  $(u_b)_{b \in S}$  be a PACIFS as in Definition 3.1.

**Definition 3.4.** Fix  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ . If  $\sum_{b \in S} |b|^{qs} < \infty$ , we let  $\widetilde{L} = \widetilde{L}_{S,s} : C(\Sigma) \to C(\Sigma)$  denote the symbolic Perron–Frobenius operator

(3.2) 
$$\widetilde{L}f(\omega) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{b \in S} |u_b' \circ \pi(\omega)|^s f(b * \omega),$$

where \* denotes concatenation, and we let

$$P = P(S, s) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \log \rho(\widetilde{L})$$

denote the logarithm of the spectral radius of  $\widetilde{L}$ . If  $\sum_{b \in S} |b|^{qs} = \infty$ , then  $\widetilde{L}$  is not defined and we instead let  $P \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} + \infty$ . Note that by (3.1), we have

(3.3) 
$$e^P \asymp \|\widetilde{L}\| \asymp \sum_{b \in S} |b|^{qs},$$

where the middle expression is interpreted as  $\infty$  when  $\widetilde{L}$  is not defined. Here the implied constants may depend on (U, V, u, v, q) but not on the PACIFS  $(u_b)_{b \in S}$ .

We now wish to recall several results from [68]. These results are generally stated for what [68] calls CIFSes, and what we will call OSC CIFSes (because they assume the open set condition in addition to conformality). Although PACIFSes are not necessarily OSC CIFSes, we can show that they satisfy [68, §4.2: (4d),(4e)] in the definition of OSC CIFSes as well as parts of [68, §4.2: (4a),(4c)]:

- (4a),(4d) Let  $X = \{x \in V : d(x, \Lambda_S) \le \varepsilon\}$  for some sufficiently small  $\varepsilon > 0$ . This satisfies all desired properties except connectedness.
  - (4c) Let W = V. This satisfies all desired properties except that the extension may not be globally invertible (it is locally invertible).
  - (4e) By (3.1), this is true with  $\alpha = 1$ .

These properties are enough to prove the following results for all PACIFSes. However, we note that for our main example of Gauss IFSes, all conditions of the OSC CIFS definition are satisfied.

- (A1) Convex and decreasing pressure function:  $P(S, \cdot)$  is equal to the standard pressure function of  $(u_b)_{b \in S}$  (cf. [68, (2.1) / pp.54-55 / p.78]) and in particular is convex and decreasing [68, Proposition 4.2.8(b)]
- (A2) Existence of eigenfunctions and eigenmeasures: for each  $s \geq 0$  such that  $-\infty < P < +\infty$ , for some  $\beta > 0$  there exist a positive  $\beta$ -Hölder continuous function  $\widetilde{g} = \widetilde{g}_{S,s} \in \mathcal{B} = \mathcal{H}^{\beta}(\Sigma)$  and a positive measure  $\widetilde{\mu} = \widetilde{\mu}_{S,s} \in \mathcal{M}_{+}(\Sigma) \subseteq \mathcal{B}^{*}$  such that

$$\widetilde{L}\widetilde{q} = e^P\widetilde{q}$$
 and  $\widetilde{\mu}\widetilde{L} = e^P\widetilde{\mu}$ 

see [68, Theorem 2.7.3 / 3.2.3 / 6.1.2 and Theorem 2.4.3]. Note that if P=0, then this means that  $\widetilde{g}$  and  $\widetilde{\mu}$  are right and left fixed points, respectively, for  $\widetilde{L}$ .

(A3) Spectral gap<sup>5</sup>: with  $s, \beta$  as above, if  $c = 1/\widetilde{\mu}\widetilde{g}$ , then

$$||e^{-nP}\widetilde{L}^n - c\widetilde{g}\widetilde{\mu}||_{\beta} \le C\gamma^n$$

for some  $C<\infty$  and  $\gamma<1$  [68, Theorem 2.4.6(b)]. Here the notation  $\|\cdot\|_{\beta}$  means that the operator norm is taken with respect to the space  $\mathcal{B}=\mathcal{H}^{\beta}(\Sigma)$ , rather than the space  $C(\Sigma)$  that  $\widetilde{L}$  was originally defined on.

(A4) Invariant measure: the shift map  $\sigma: \Sigma \to \Sigma$  defined by

$$\sigma(b*\omega) = \omega$$

has the invariant measure

$$\widetilde{\nu} = c\widetilde{\mu}M_{\widetilde{a}},$$

where  $M_{\widetilde{g}}$  denotes the operator of multiplication by  $\widetilde{g}$  [68, Proposition 2.4.7].

For the purpose of later calculation, we define and compute the Lyapunov exponent of the dynamical system  $(\sigma, \tilde{\nu})$ :

(3.4) 
$$\chi \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \int_{\Sigma} \log \left| (u_{\omega_{1}}^{-1})' \circ \pi(\omega) \right| \, d\widetilde{\nu}(\omega)$$

$$= \sum_{b \in S} \int_{b*\Sigma} \log \left| (u_{b}^{-1})' \circ \pi(\omega) \right| \, \widetilde{g}(\omega) \, d\widetilde{\mu}(\omega)$$

$$= -e^{-P} \int_{\Sigma} \sum_{b \in S} \left| u_{b}' \circ \pi(\omega) \right|^{s} \log \left| u_{b}' \circ \pi(\omega) \right| \, \widetilde{g}(b*\omega) \, d\widetilde{\mu}(\omega)$$

Note that  $\chi > 0$ , since  $|(u_{\omega_1}^{-1})' \circ \pi(\omega)| > 1$  for all  $\omega \in \Sigma$ .

In what follows we will need a version of the Perron–Frobenius operator that operates on the space of holomorphic functions on a complex neighborhood of  $\Lambda_S$ .

**Definition 3.5.** Let  $U_{\mathbb{C}}, V_{\mathbb{C}} \subseteq \mathbb{C}$  be neighborhoods of  $S \cup \{0\}$  and  $\overline{\Lambda_S}$ , respectively, such that  $V_{\mathbb{C}}$  is connected, and u, v can be extended to bounded holomorphic functions from  $U_{\mathbb{C}} \times V_{\mathbb{C}}$  to  $V_{\mathbb{C}}$  and to  $\mathbb{C}$  respectively, such that the family of maps  $(u_b)_{b \in U}$  is still uniformly contracting. For each  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\sum_{b \in S} |b|^{qs} < \infty$  we consider the **geometric Perron–Frobenius operator**  $L = L_{S,s} : C(V_{\mathbb{C}}) \to C(V_{\mathbb{C}})$  defined by the formula

(3.5) 
$$Lf(x) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{b \in S} |b|^{qs} e^{sv(b,x)} f \circ u_b(x),$$

$$e^{-nP} \|\widetilde{R}^n\| = \|e^{-nP}\widetilde{L}^n - c\widetilde{g}\widetilde{\mu}\| \le C\gamma^n$$

is equivalent to the operator  $\widetilde{L}$  having a spectral gap in the sense of [75]:  $\widetilde{L}$  has a simple isolated eigenvalue the modulus of which equals  $\rho(\widetilde{L})$ , and that the remaining part of the spectrum is contained in a disk centered at zero and of radius strictly smaller than  $\rho(\widetilde{L})$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> We mean a spectral gap in the sense of [75]. Indeed, let  $\widetilde{R} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \widetilde{L} - ce^P \widetilde{g} \widetilde{\mu}$ . The inequality  $\|\widetilde{R}^n\| \leq Ce^{Pn} \gamma^n$  implies that  $\rho(\widetilde{R}) \leq e^P \gamma < \rho(\widetilde{L})$ , and conversely if  $\rho(\widetilde{R}) < \rho(\widetilde{L})$ , we may take  $\gamma \in e^{-P}(\rho(\widetilde{R}), \rho(\widetilde{L}))$ , and then we have  $\|\widetilde{R}^n\| \leq Ce^{nP} \gamma^n$  for some C. So the inequality

which we will consider throughout the paper. Note that L is related to the  $\widetilde{L}$  by the semiconjugacy relation

$$\widetilde{L}\Pi = \Pi L$$

where the operator  $\Pi: \operatorname{Lip}(V_{\mathbb{C}}) \to \mathcal{H}^{\beta}(\Sigma)$  defined by  $\Pi f = f \circ \pi$  is continuous but usually not surjective.

Note that the following bounded distortion property holds: for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $\omega \in S^n$ , and  $x \in V_{\mathbb{C}}$ , we have

$$|v(\omega_1, x) + v(\omega_2, u_{\omega_1}(x)) + \ldots + v(\omega_n, u_{\omega_{n-1}} \circ \cdots \circ u_{\omega_1}(x))| \lesssim 1.$$

This is because of the uniform contraction property of  $(u_b)_{b \in S}$ , together with the Lipschitz continuity of v.

The arguments of [68, §2] can be easily adapted to the setting of (3.5), yielding the following results:

- (B1) Spectral Radius: Due to the bounded distortion property described above, the spectral radii of the operators (3.2) and (3.5) are both equal to  $e^P$ .
- (B2) Existence of eigenfunctions and eigenmeasures: If  $-\infty < P < +\infty$ , then there exist a Lipschitz continuous function  $g \in \mathcal{B} = \operatorname{Lip}(V_{\mathbb{C}})$  which is positive on  $V_{\mathbb{R}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} V_{\mathbb{C}} \cap \mathbb{R}$  and a positive measure  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}_+(V_{\mathbb{C}}) \subseteq \mathcal{B}^*$  such that

$$Lq = e^P q$$
 and  $\mu L = e^P \mu$ .

After renormalization, we have  $\Pi g = \widetilde{g}$  and  $\widetilde{\mu} \Pi = \mu$ ; in particular,  $\mu$  is supported on  $\Lambda_S$ .

(B3) Spectral gap<sup>6</sup>: We have

$$||e^{-nP}L^n - cq\mu||_1 < C\gamma^n$$

for some  $C<\infty$  and  $\gamma<1$ , where  $c=1/\mu g$ , and  $\|\cdot\|_1$  indicates that the operator norm is being taken with respect to the space  $\mathcal{B}=\mathrm{Lip}(V_{\mathbb{C}})$ , rather than the space  $C(V_{\mathbb{C}})$  that L was originally defined on.

(B4) Lyapunov exponent: Using the formulas  $\widetilde{L} \Pi = \Pi L$ ,  $\Pi g = \widetilde{g}$ , and  $\widetilde{\mu} \Pi = \mu$ , we get

$$\chi = -ce^{-P}\mu\alpha_1 g,$$

where

(3.6) 
$$\alpha_1 f(x) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{b \in S} |u_b'(x)|^s \log |u_b'(x)| \ f \circ u_b(x).$$

In what follows we will need to consider the "unnormalized" Lyapunov exponent

$$\widetilde{\chi} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} c^{-1} e^P \chi = -\mu \alpha_1 g > 0.$$

Now by (B3) we have

$$e^{-nP}L^n\mathbb{1} \to cg\mu\mathbb{1}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>See footnote 5 attached to (A3).

uniformly, and since L preserves the space of holomorphic functions, it follows that g is holomorphic<sup>7</sup>.

Although (B3) is stated only for the Lipschitz norm  $\|\cdot\|_1$ , for holomorphic functions it holds for the sup norm  $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$  as well. Indeed, recall Cauchy's inequality: for every bounded holomorphic function f whose domain includes  $B_{\mathbb{C}}(z,\rho)$  we have

(3.7) 
$$\frac{1}{i!}|f^{(i)}(z)| \le \rho^{-i}||f||_{\infty}.$$

In particular, if  $K \subseteq V_{\mathbb{C}}$  is compact then  $\|f \upharpoonright K\|_1 \lesssim \|f\|_{\infty}$ . Since  $\bigcup_{b \in U} u_b(V_{\mathbb{C}})$  is precompact in  $V_{\mathbb{C}}$ , it follows that  $\|Lf\|_1 \lesssim \|f\|_{\infty}$  and thus

$$||e^{-nP}L^nf - cg\mu f||_{\infty} \le ||e^{-nP}L^nf - cg\mu f||_1 \le C\gamma^{n-1}||Lf||_1 \lesssim \gamma^n||f||_{\infty}$$

and therefore we have

$$||e^{-nP}L^n - cg\mu||_{\infty} \lesssim \gamma^n.$$

The value of s such that P(S,s)=0 is particularly important, if such a value exists, hence we make the following definition:

**Definition 3.6** (Cf. [68, p.78 and Definition 4.3.1]). Given a set  $S \subseteq U \setminus \{0\}$  as in Definition 3.1, we call S as well as the associated PACIFS  $(u_b)_{b \in S}$  regular if there exists  $\delta \geq 0$  such that  $P(S, \delta) = 0$ , and strongly regular if furthermore there exists  $\kappa > 0$  such that  $P(S, \delta - \kappa) < +\infty$ . Equivalently, S is strongly regular if there exists S such that S such that S is strongly regular if there exists S such that S is strongly regular.

## 3.3. Bowen's formula. In what follows we let

$$\delta = \delta_S \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \inf\{s \in \mathbb{R} : P(S, s) \le 0\},\$$

and we notice that  $P(S, \delta_S) = 0$  if and only if S is regular. If S is regular, we write  $L_S = L_{S,\delta_S}$ . We also let

$$\Theta_S \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \inf\{s \in \mathbb{R} : P(S, s) < +\infty\}$$

and we note that S is strongly regular if and only if  $\delta_S > \Theta_S$ .

Finally, for our last result we need to assume the OSC, which we define as follows:

**Definition 3.7.** A PACIFS  $(u_b)_{b \in S}$  satisfies the *open set condition (OSC)* if there exists a connected open set W precompact in V such that:

- $(u_b(W))_{b \in S}$  is a disjoint collection of subsets of W;
- for each  $b \in S$ ,  $u_b$  is injective;

 $<sup>\</sup>overline{{}^{7}}$ A similar result was proven in [68, Corollary 6.1.4], though the hypotheses and conclusion are somewhat different. Note that the invariance hypothesis on U in [68, Corollary 6.1.4] should be that each element of S can be extended to a univalent holomorphic map from U to itself, rather than what is written there.

• (Cone condition)<sup>8</sup> For every  $x \in \overline{W}$ , there exists an open cone of vertex x, angle  $\gamma$ , and altitude l which is entirely contained in W, where  $\gamma, l > 0$  are constants.

It is easily verified (by letting  $X=\overline{W}$ ) that every OSC PACIFS is an OSC CIFS (as recalled in Appendix B).

For every OSC PACIFS, we have the following:

(A5,B5) Bowen's formula: The Hausdorff dimension of  $\Lambda_S$  is

$$\dim_H(\Lambda_S) = \delta_S,$$

see [68, Theorem 4.2.13]. Note that the pressure function  $P(S,\cdot)$  appearing in the definition of  $\delta_S$  can be expressed as either  $P(S,s) = \log \rho(\widetilde{L})$  or as  $P(S,s) = \log \rho(L)$ , so this result can be thought of as being about both the symbolic and the geometric Perron–Frobenius operators.

#### 4. STATEMENT OF MAIN RESULT

Our main result is an application of Theorem 2.1 to the situation where a PACIFS  $(u_b)_{b\in S}$  is being approximated by another PACIFS  $(u_b)_{b\in S'}$ . Thus, we fix (U,V,u,v,q), and we let  $U_{\mathbb{C}},V_{\mathbb{C}}\subseteq\mathbb{C}$  be as above.

In what follows all operators will be interpreted as acting on the Banach space  $\mathcal{B} = \mathbb{H}(V_{\mathbb{C}})$ , where  $\mathbb{H}(V_{\mathbb{C}})$  denotes the Banach space of bounded holomorphic functions on  $V_{\mathbb{C}}$ , endowed with the sup norm.

**Notation.** Fix  $S, S' \subseteq U \setminus \{0\}$  and  $\delta \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\delta \geq \delta_S$ , and let

$$\theta = \theta(S') \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \delta_{S'} - \delta.$$

For each  $i \geq 0$ , we let

$$\eta_i = \eta_i(S') \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{b \in S'} |b|^{q(\delta+\theta)} b^i - \sum_{b \in S} |b|^{q(\delta+\theta)} b^i.$$

Note that  $\eta_0$  is positive when  $S' \supseteq S$  and negative when  $S' \subseteq S$ , as long as  $S' \neq S$ . Next, we define

$$\eta \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sup_{b \in S \triangle S'} |b|,$$

where  $S \triangle S' \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (S \setminus S') \cup (S' \setminus S)$  is the symmetric difference of S and S'.

Let  $\mathcal{M}(A)$  denote the set of all multisets on a set A, i.e. finitely supported functions from A to  $\mathbb{N}$ . If  $I \in \mathcal{M}(A)$ , then I(i) = n is interpreted as meaning "i is an element of I of multiplicity n". We denote the empty multiset by  $\mathbf{0}$ , and for each  $i \in A$ , we denote the singleton multiset

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>We note that this condition has become somewhat outdated and is not needed at all for the purposes of the current paper, and is mainly included for eth benefit of those readers familiar with [66,68]. The definition of a CGDMS as in [68] may be equivalently reformulated in a more elegant and transparent form – see, in particular, the work of the fourth-named author with Janina Kotus [60, Chapter 10], which also includes a short proof of Bowen's formula that is independent of the cone condition.

containing i by  $\{i\}$ , so that  $\{i\}(i) = 1$ , and  $\{i\}(i') = 0$  for  $i' \neq i$ . Note that this implies that e.g.  $i\{j\}$  denotes the multiset containing j with a multiplicity of i.

For  $I \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{N})$ , we write

$$\#(I) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{i} I(i), \qquad \qquad \Sigma(I) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{i} i I(i), \qquad \qquad \eta_{I} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \prod_{i} \eta_{i}^{I(i)},$$

where the summations and product are taken over the finite set  $\{i \in \mathbb{N} : I(i) > 0\}$ . Finally, let

$$h(x) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} e^{\delta v(0,x)}, \qquad \qquad \nu f \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} f(0), \qquad \qquad L_1 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} L_{S,\delta},$$

$$\widetilde{c} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} 1/\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \nu L_1^m h,$$
  $\xi = \xi(S') \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \eta_0 - \widetilde{c}.$ 

**Remark.** Since  $\delta \geq \delta_S$ , we have  $P(S, \delta) \leq 0$ , or equivalently  $\rho(L_1) = e^{P(S, \delta)} \leq 1$ , where as before  $\rho$  denotes spectral radius. It follows that  $\tilde{c} = 0$  if and only if  $P(S, \delta) = 0$ . Since  $\delta \geq \delta_S$ , it follows that  $\tilde{c} = 0$  if and only if both (a)  $\delta = \delta_S$  and (b) S is regular.

**Theorem 4.1.** With notation as above, fix  $S \subseteq U \setminus \{0\}$  and  $\delta \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\delta \geq \delta_S$  and  $\delta > \Theta_S$ . Then there exist  $\varepsilon > 0$  and explicitly computable constants  $c_{I,j,k}$  with  $c_{\mathbf{0},0,0} = 0$  and  $c_{\mathbf{0},0,1} = 1$  such that for all regular  $S' \subseteq U \setminus \{0\}$  satisfying  $\eta, |\theta| \leq \varepsilon$ , we have

(4.1) 
$$\Xi = 0, \quad \text{where} \qquad \Xi = \Xi(S') \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{I \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{N}_{\geq 1})} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} c_{I,j,k} \, \eta_I \theta^j \xi^k.$$

Note that if  $\tilde{c} = 0$ , then  $\xi = \eta_0$  and thus the right half of (4.1) can be rewritten as

(4.2) 
$$\Xi = \sum_{I \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{N})} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} c_{I,j} \, \eta_I \theta^j$$

where  $c_{I,j} = c_{(I | \mathbb{N}_{\geq 1}),j,I(0)}$ . In this case we have  $c_{\mathbf{0},1} = c_{\mathbf{0},1,0} = -\widetilde{\chi} < 0$ , where  $\widetilde{\chi}$  is as in (B4), where  $g, \mu$  are right and left fixed points of  $L_1$  normalized so that

$$\mu h = \nu g = 1.$$

Moreover,

$$|c_{I,j,k}| \lesssim \varepsilon^{-(\Sigma(I)+j+k)}.$$

Note that when  $\tilde{c} = 0$ , this can be written as

$$|c_{I,j}| \lesssim \varepsilon^{-(\Sigma(I)+I(0)+j)}.$$

**Remark.** If we assume  $\delta \geq \delta_S$ , then the hypothesis that  $\delta > \Theta_S$  is satisfied if and only if either (a)  $\delta_S > \Theta_S$  (i.e. S is strongly regular) or (b)  $\delta > \delta_S$ .

**Remark.** It is natural to let  $\delta = \lim_{N \to \infty} \delta_{S_N}$ , where  $S_N \to S$  is a sequence such that this limit exists, from which S' will be chosen. In this case, we automatically have  $|\theta| \le \varepsilon$  for all N sufficiently large, and  $\delta \ge \delta_S$  automatically due to semicontinuity of Hausdorff dimension for

CIFS limit sets [68, Theorem 4.2.13]. Moreover, if  $S = \emptyset$  but  $S_N \neq \emptyset$ , then  $\delta \geq 0 > -\infty = \delta_S$ , so the hypothesis  $\delta > \Theta_S$  is satisfied despite the fact that  $S = \emptyset$  is not strongly regular (and in fact is not regular at all).

**Corollary 4.2.** Fix  $S, \delta$  as in Theorem 4.1, and let  $(S_N)$  be a sequence of sets. Suppose that for some  $d \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exist a sequence  $(\mathbf{t}_N)$  in  $\mathbb{C}^d$  converging to  $\mathbf{0}$ , and functions  $F_i, F_* \in \mathbb{H}(B)$  holomorphic on a fixed neighborhood B of  $(\mathbf{0}, 0) \in \mathbb{C}^{d+1}$ , such that for each N,

$$\eta_i(S_N) = F_i(\mathbf{t}_N, \theta_N), \quad \theta_N = \theta(S_N), \quad \xi(S_N) = F_*(\mathbf{t}_N, \theta_N).$$

Furthermore, suppose that

$$||F_i|| \le \varepsilon^i/2^i$$
,  $||\pi_2|| \le \varepsilon/2$ , and  $||F_*|| \le \varepsilon/2$ ,

where  $\pi_2(\mathbf{t}, \theta) = \theta$  is the projection onto the second coordinate, and  $\varepsilon$  is as in Theorem 4.1. Then

$$\Xi(S_N) = F(\mathbf{t}_N, \theta_N)$$

where F is a holomorphic function defined on B.

Proof. Define the function

$$F \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{I \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{N}_{\geq 1})} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} c_{I,j,k} \left( \prod_{i \in I} F_i \right) \pi_2^j F_*^k \ = \ \sum_{I,j,k} c_{I,j,k} \left( \prod_{i \in I} F_i \right) \pi_2^j F_*^k$$

Note that the bound (4.4) guarantees that the above series converges absolutely, since

$$\sum_{I,j,k} \left\| c_{I,j,k} \left( \prod_{i \in I} F_i \right) \pi_2^j F_*^k \right\| \lesssim \sum_{(4,4)} \sum_{I,j,k} \varepsilon^{-(\Sigma(I)+j+k)} (\varepsilon/2)^{\Sigma(I)+j+k} \\
= \sum_{I,j,k} (1/2)^{\Sigma(I)+j+k} \\
= \left( \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} (1/2)^{i\ell} \right) \left( \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (1/2)^j \right) \left( \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (1/2)^j \right) \\
= 4 \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} (1-2^{-i})^{-1} < \infty$$

Therefore the series defining F converges in  $\mathbb{H}(B)$ . By the definition of F, we have

$$F(\mathbf{t}_N, \theta_N) \stackrel{=}{\underset{(4.1)}{=}} \Xi(S_N).$$

Indeed,

$$F(\mathbf{t}_{N}, \theta_{N}) = \sum_{I,j,k} c_{I,j,k} \left( \prod_{i \in I} F_{i}(\mathbf{t}_{N}, \theta_{N}) \right) \cdot \pi_{2}^{j}(\mathbf{t}_{N}, \theta_{N}) \cdot F_{*}^{k}(\mathbf{t}_{N}, \theta_{N})$$

$$= \sum_{I,j,k} c_{I,j,k} \left( \prod_{i \in I} \eta_{i}(S_{N}) \right) \theta(S_{N})^{j} \xi(S_{N})^{k} \underset{(4.1)}{=} \Xi(S_{N})$$

## 5. Spectral gap in the case $\widetilde{c} > 0$

To prove Theorem 4.1, we need to apply Theorem 2.1; thus, given sets S,S', we need to produce operators L,L', satisfying the hypotheses of Theorem 2.1 if S' is a sufficiently close perturbation of S, i.e. one for which  $\eta, |\theta| \leq \varepsilon$  as in Theorem 4.1. When  $\widetilde{c}=0$  we can take  $L=L_S$  and  $L'=L_{S'}$ , since we have  $P(S,\delta)=0$  and thus by (B2) of §3,  $L_S$  has right and left fixed points. However, if  $\widetilde{c}>0$  then  $P(S,\delta)<0$  and thus  $L_1=L_{S,\delta}$  has spectral radius <1 and has neither right nor left fixed points. In this section we prove that there is another operator with right and left fixed points, which will be suitable to plug in for L in Theorem 2.1. Moreover we prove that this operator has a spectral gap, guaranteeing that the series  $\sum_n \|R^n\|$  appearing in Theorem 2.1 converges.

**Proposition 5.1.** Let  $L_1$  be an operator on a Banach space  $\mathcal{B}$  such that  $\rho(L_1) < 1$ , where  $\rho$  denotes spectral radius. Fix  $h \in \mathcal{B}$ ,  $\nu \in \mathcal{B}^*$  such that  $\nu h > 0$ , and  $\nu L_1^m h \geq 0$  for all  $m \geq 0$ . Then if we let

$$Q_1 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} L_1^m, \qquad \qquad \widetilde{c} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} 1/\nu Q_1 h, \qquad \qquad L \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} L_1 + \widetilde{c} h \nu,$$
 $q \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} Q_1 h, \qquad \qquad \mu \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \nu Q_1.$ 

then it follows that

$$Lq = q$$
 and  $\mu L = \mu$ .

Moreover, there exist  $C < \infty$  and  $\gamma < 1$  such that for all n,

$$(5.1) ||L^n - cg\mu|| \le C\gamma^n$$

where  $c \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} 1/\mu g$ . In particular, L has a spectral gap in the sense of [75]<sup>9</sup>.

Proof. We have

$$Lg = (L_1 + \tilde{c} h\nu)Q_1 h = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} L_1^m h + \tilde{c} h\nu Q_1 h = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} L_1^m h = g$$

and similarly  $\mu L = \mu$ . Let  $a_{m+1} = \tilde{c} \nu L_1^m h$  and  $b_{n+1} = \tilde{c} \nu L^n h$  for  $m, n \geq 0$ , and let  $a_0 = 0$  and  $b_0 = 1$ . Then since  $L^n = (L_1 + \tilde{c} h \nu)^n$  is the sum of all n-fold ordered products of  $L_1$  and  $\tilde{c} h \nu$ , we

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>See footnote 5 attached to (A3).

have

$$\begin{split} b_{n+1} &= \widetilde{c} \, \nu L^n h = \widetilde{c} \, \nu (L_1 + \widetilde{c} \, h \nu)^n h \\ &= \sum_{t=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{m_1, \dots, m_t \\ \sum_i (m_i + 1) - 1 = n}} \widetilde{c} \, \nu L_1^{m_1} (\widetilde{c} \, h \nu) L_1^{m_2} \cdots L_1^{m_{t-1}} (\widetilde{c} \, h \nu) L_1^{m_t} h \\ &= \sum_{t=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{m_1, \dots, m_t \\ \sum_i m_i = n - t + 1}} \prod_{i=1}^t \widetilde{c} \, \nu L_1^{m_i} h \\ &= \sum_{t=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{m_1, \dots, m_t \\ \sum_i m_i = n + 1}} \prod_{i=1}^t a_{m_i}. \end{split}$$

Together with the equality  $b_0 = 1$ , this shows that the sequence  $(b_n)$  is the sum of the t-fold convolutions of the sequence  $(a_m)$  over  $t \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Now let A and B be the functions whose Taylor series coefficients are given by  $(a_m)$  and  $(b_n)$ , i.e.

$$A(z) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} a_m z^m, \qquad B(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} b_n z^n.$$

Then the convolution relation between  $(a_m)$  and  $(b_n)$  mentioned above implies that

$$B(z) = \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} [A(z)]^t = \frac{1}{1 - A(z)}$$

for all z in the radius of convergence of both A and B. Now by hypothesis we have  $\lambda \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \rho(L_1) < 1$ , and by definition of the spectral radius we have  $|a_m| \lesssim_m (\lambda + \varepsilon)^m$  for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Thus the series defining A converges in the open ball  $B^{\circ}_{\mathbb{C}}(0,\lambda^{-1}) \supseteq B_{\mathbb{C}}(0,1)$ . Moreover, by the definition of  $\widetilde{c}$  we have  $f(1) = \sum_m a_m = 1$ , and by hypothesis we have  $a_1 > 0$  and  $a_m \geq 0$  for all m. We claim that for all  $z \in B_{\mathbb{C}}(0,1)$ , if A(z) = 1 then z = 1. Indeed, since  $|a_m z^m| \leq a_m$  and  $\sum_m a_m = 1$ , if A(z) = 1 then we must have  $a_m z^m = a_m$  for all n. In particular  $a_1 z = a_1$ , and since  $a_1 > 0$  this implies z = 1.

Next, we observe that

$$A'(1) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} m a_m = \frac{1}{r} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{\tilde{c}}{c} = \frac{\mu g}{\nu Q_1 h} > 0.$$

It follows that B can be extended to a meromorphic function  $\widehat{B} = \frac{1}{1-A}$  on  $B^{\circ}_{\mathbb{C}}(0, \lambda^{-1})$ , and the only pole of  $\widehat{B}$  in  $B_{\mathbb{C}}(0, 1)$  is 1, where  $\widehat{B}$  has a simple pole of residue -r. So

$$\widehat{B}(z) = \frac{r}{1-z} + E(z)$$

where E is a meromorphic function on  $B^{\circ}_{\mathbb{C}}(0,\lambda^{-1})$ , which is holomorphic on a closed neighborhood of  $B_{\mathbb{C}}(0,1)$ , say  $B_{\mathbb{C}}(0,\tau^{-1})$  with  $\lambda < \tau < 1$ . Since  $\frac{r}{1-z} = \sum_{n} rz^{n}$ , it follows from Cauchy's

inequality (cf. (3.7)) that

$$|b_n - r| \le \tau^n ||E||_{\infty}.$$

Now

$$L^{n} = (L_{1} + \widetilde{c}h\nu)^{n} = L_{1}^{n} + \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} L_{1}^{i}(\widetilde{c}h\nu)L_{1}^{n-i-1} + \sum_{i=0}^{n-2} \sum_{j=0}^{n-i-2} L_{1}^{i}(\widetilde{c}h\nu)L^{n-i-j-2}(\widetilde{c}h\nu)L_{1}^{j}$$

$$= L_{1}^{n} + \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \sum_{j=0}^{n-i-1} \widetilde{c}L_{1}^{i}hb_{n-i-j-1}\nu L_{1}^{j}$$

and thus after setting  $b_n = 0$  when n < 0 and  $||b|| = \sup_n |b_n|$ , we have

$$||L^{n} - cg\mu|| = ||L^{n} - r \tilde{c} g\mu||$$

$$= \left\| L_{1}^{n} + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \tilde{c} (b_{n-i-j-1} - r) L_{1}^{i} h \nu L_{1}^{j} \right\|$$

$$\leq ||L_{1}^{n}|| + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \tilde{c} \min \left( r + ||b||, |b_{n-i-j-1} - r| \right) ||L_{1}^{i}|| \cdot ||h\nu|| \cdot ||L_{1}^{j}||$$

$$\lesssim \tau^{n} + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \min(1, \tau^{n-i-j}) \tau^{i+j}$$

$$\leq \tau^{n} + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \min(1, \tau^{i-n}) \min(1, \tau^{j-n}) \tau^{n}$$

$$= \tau^{n} + \left( \sum_{i=-n}^{\infty} \min(1, \tau^{i}) \right)^{2} \tau^{n} \approx n^{2} \tau^{n}.$$

Thus for any choice of  $\gamma$  in  $(\tau, 1)$ , we have that (5.1) is satisfied. This completes the proof of Proposition 5.1.

## 6. Proof of Theorem 4.1

As before, recall that  $\mathcal{B}$  denotes the Banach space of bounded holomorphic functions on  $V_{\mathbb{C}}$ , endowed with the sup norm. All operator norms will be taken with respect to  $\mathcal{B}$ .

Let  $S, \delta$  be as in Theorem 4.1. Since  $\delta > \Theta_S$ , there exists  $\kappa > 0$  such that  $\delta - \kappa > \Theta_S$ . Fix  $\varepsilon > 0$  to be determined. Now fix  $S' \subseteq U \setminus \{0\}$  such that  $\eta, |\theta| \le \varepsilon$ , let

$$L \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} L_1 + \widetilde{c} h \nu, \qquad L' \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} L_{S', \delta + \theta}, \qquad L'' \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} L_{S, \delta + \theta} + \widetilde{c} h \nu,$$

$$\alpha \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} L'' - L, \qquad \beta \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} L' - L'', \qquad \Delta \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} L' - L = \alpha + \beta.$$

Since S' is regular and  $\delta + \theta = \delta_{S'}$ , we have  $P(S', \delta + \theta) = 0$  and thus  $L' = L_{S'}$  has positive right and left fixed points g' and  $\mu'$  by (B2) of §3. Here we call a function *positive* if it is uniformly positive on  $V_{\mathbb{R}}$ , and we call an element of  $\mathcal{B}^*$  positive if it arises from a nonzero nonnegative measure supported on  $V_{\mathbb{R}}$ . In particular, if  $f \in \mathcal{B}$  and  $\sigma \in \mathcal{B}^*$  are both positive then  $\sigma f > 0$ .

If  $\widetilde{c}=0$ , then  $P(S,\delta)=0$  and thus  $L=L_S$  has positive right and left fixed points g and  $\mu$  by (B2), and by (B3), there exist constants  $C<\infty$  and  $\gamma<1$  such that  $\|R^n\|=\|L^n-cg\mu\|\leq C\gamma^n$  for all n, where R is as in Theorem 2.1. On the other hand, if  $\widetilde{c}>0$ , then the existence of such  $g,\mu,C,\gamma$  follows from Proposition 5.1. Either way, we get  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\|R^n\|\leq C/(1-\gamma)<\infty$ , so if

(6.1) 
$$\|\Delta\| < (1 - \gamma)/C,$$

then the hypotheses of Theorem 2.1 are satisfied, and consequently (2.4) holds. We aim to show that (6.1) holds if  $\varepsilon$  is sufficiently small, while simultaneously developing the tools that will allow us to reduce (2.4) to the equation  $\Xi = 0$ , where  $\Xi$  is as in (4.1).

**Remark.** In the remainder of the paper we will assume that  $g, \mu$  are normalized as in (4.3).

In what follows, the implied constants of asymptotics may depend on S but not on S' or  $\theta$ .

**Lemma 6.1.** If  $\varepsilon$  is sufficiently small, then for all i,

$$|\eta_i| \lesssim \eta^i$$
.

*Proof.* If  $\varepsilon \leq \kappa$ , then

$$|\eta_{i}| \leq \sum_{b \in S \triangle S'} |b|^{q(\delta+\theta)+i} \leq \eta^{i} \sum_{b \in S \triangle S'} |b|^{q(\delta+\theta)}$$

$$\leq \eta^{i} \left( \sum_{b \in S} |b|^{q(\delta+\theta)} + \sum_{b \in S'} |b|^{q(\delta+\theta)} \right)$$

$$\lesssim \eta^{i} \left( \sum_{b \in S} |b|^{q(\delta-\kappa)} + \sum_{b \in S'} |b|^{q(\delta+\theta)} \right) \qquad \text{(since } |\theta| \leq \varepsilon \leq \kappa)$$

$$\approx \eta^{i} \left( e^{P(S,\delta-\kappa)} + e^{P(S',\delta+\theta)} \right) \qquad \text{(by (3.3))}$$

$$\leq \eta^{i}$$

where the last asymptotic is true since  $P(S, \delta - \kappa) < +\infty$  and  $P(S', \delta + \theta) = 0$ , the former being true since we chose  $\kappa$  such that  $\delta - \kappa > \Theta_S$  and the latter since S' is regular and  $\delta + \theta = \delta_{S'}$ .  $\square$ 

**Lemma 6.2.** *If*  $\varepsilon$  *is sufficiently small, then* 

(6.2) 
$$\alpha = \sum_{j \ge 1} \theta^j \alpha_j,$$

where  $\alpha_i \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{B})$  is the unique operator such that

(6.3) 
$$\alpha_j f(x) = \frac{1}{j!} \sum_{b \in S} |u_b'(x)|^{\delta} \log^j |u_b'(x)| \ f \circ u_b(x) \qquad \forall f \in \mathcal{B} \ \forall x \in V_{\mathbb{R}}.$$

The value of  $\alpha_j f(x)$  for  $x \in V_{\mathbb{C}}$  is obtained by replacing  $|u_b'(x)|$  by  $|b|^q e^{v(b,x)}$  in the above formula. Furthermore,

Note that  $\alpha_0 = L_1$ , and that  $\alpha_1$  is as defined in (3.6), with  $s = \delta$ .

*Proof.* Indeed, fix  $f \in \mathcal{B}$ . For  $x \in V_{\mathbb{R}}$  we have

$$\begin{split} \alpha f(x) &= \sum_{b \in S} |u_b'(x)|^\delta \left( |u_b'(x)|^\theta - 1 \right) \, f \circ u_b(x) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^\infty \frac{\theta^j}{j!} \sum_{b \in S} |u_b'(x)|^\delta \log^j |u_b'(x)| \, f \circ u_b(x) \qquad \text{(see below to justify interchange)} \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^\infty \theta^j \alpha_j f(x). \end{split}$$

The assertion about the value of  $\alpha_j f(x)$  for  $x \in V_{\mathbb{C}}$  can be obtained either by analytic continuation, or by repeating the above calculation with the suggested substitution.

To demonstrate (6.4), we note that for all  $x \in V_{\mathbb{C}}$ ,

$$|\alpha_{j}f(x)| \leq \frac{1}{j!} \sum_{b \in S} |b|^{q\delta} e^{\delta \operatorname{Re} v(b,x)} |q \log |b| + v(b,x)|^{j} \cdot |f \circ u_{b}(x)|$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{j!} \sum_{b \in S} |b|^{q\delta} e^{\delta ||v||} (-q \log |b| + C)^{j} ||f||,$$

where  $C = \|v\| + 2q(\log \|U\|)_+$ . Here  $\|U\| = \sup_{b \in U} |b|$ , and  $(\cdot)_+$  denotes the positive part. Let  $w(b) = -q \log |b| + C \ge 0$ . Then

$$\|\alpha_j\| \le \frac{1}{j!} \sum_{b \in S} e^{-\delta w(b)} w^j(b) = \kappa^{-j} \sum_{b \in S} e^{-\delta w(b)} \frac{(\kappa w(b))^j}{j!}$$
$$\le \kappa^{-j} \sum_{b \in S} e^{-(\delta - \kappa)w(b)} \asymp \kappa^{-j} e^{P(S, \delta - \kappa)} \lesssim \kappa^{-j}$$

since  $P(S, \delta - \kappa) < +\infty$ . Note that this calculation also shows that the interchange of summation in the second equation of the first calculation is valid as long as  $\varepsilon < \kappa$  (so that  $|\theta| < \kappa$ ).

**Lemma 6.3.** Recall from Section 4 that  $\xi = \eta_0 - \tilde{c}$ . If  $\varepsilon > 0$  is sufficiently small, then

(6.5) 
$$\beta = \sum_{i,j} \eta_i \theta^j \beta_{i,j} - \widetilde{c} h \nu = \xi h \nu + \sum_{(i,j) \neq (0,0)} \eta_i \theta^j \beta_{i,j}$$
$$= \xi h \nu + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (\widetilde{c} + \xi) \theta^j \beta_{0,j} + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \eta_i \theta^j \beta_{i,j},$$

where  $\beta_{i,j} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{B})$  is defined by

(6.6) 
$$\beta_{i,j} f(x) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{1}{i!} \frac{1}{j!} \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial b} \right)^i \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta} \right)^j \left[ e^{(\delta + \theta)v(b,x)} \ f \circ u_b(x) \right]_{b=\theta=0}$$
$$= \mathbf{Coeff} \left( b^i \theta^j, e^{(\delta + \theta)v(b,x)} \ f \circ u_b(x) \right).$$

Here Coeff(X, A) denotes the coefficient of a multinomial X in the power series expansion of A. Furthermore,

(6.7) 
$$\|\beta_{i,j}\| \le \rho_U^{-i} e^{(\delta+1)\|v\|}$$

where  $\rho_U > 0$  is small enough so that  $B_{\mathbb{C}}(0, \rho_U) \subseteq U_{\mathbb{C}}$ .

Note that  $\beta_{0,0} = h\nu$ . This is in fact the reason that we defined  $h, \nu$  as we did.

*Proof.* Indeed, fix  $f \in \mathcal{B}$ . For all  $x \in V_{\mathbb{C}}$  we have

$$\begin{split} (\beta + \widetilde{c} \, h \nu) f(x) &= (L_{S',\delta+\theta} - L_{S,\delta+\theta}) f(x) \\ &= \sum_{b \in S'} |b|^{q(\delta+\theta)} e^{(\delta+\theta)v(b,x)} \ f \circ u_b(x) - \sum_{b \in S} |b|^{q(\delta+\theta)} e^{(\delta+\theta)v(b,x)} \ f \circ u_b(x) \\ &= \sum_{b \in S'} |b|^{q(\delta+\theta)} \left( \sum_{i,j} b^i \theta^j \beta_{i,j} f(x) \right) - \sum_{b \in S} |b|^{q(\delta+\theta)} \left( \sum_{i,j} b^i \theta^j \beta_{i,j} f(x) \right) \\ &= \sum_{i,j} \eta_i \theta^j \beta_{i,j} f(x). \end{split} \tag{see below to justify interchange}$$

The last two equalities of (6.5) follow from the definition of  $\xi$  and the fact that  $\beta_{0,0} = h\nu$ .

To demonstrate (6.7), we plug in  $\rho=\rho_U$  and  $\rho=1$  into (3.7) (both with z=0) for the variables b and  $\theta$ , respectively. This yields

$$|\beta_{i,j}f(x)| \le \rho_U^{-i} \sup_{b \in U_{\mathbb{C}}} \sup_{|\theta| \le 1} \left| e^{(\delta+\theta)v(b,x)} f \circ u_b(x) \right|$$
  
$$\le \rho_U^{-i} e^{(\delta+1)\|v\|} \|f\|.$$

Note that by Lemma 6.1, this calculation also shows that the interchange of summation in the last equation of the first calculation is valid as long as  $\varepsilon < \min(\rho_U, 1)$  (so that  $\eta < \rho_U$  and  $|\theta| < 1$ ).  $\square$ 

We now wish to prove a bound on  $|\xi|$ . By (6.4), we have  $||\alpha|| \lesssim |\theta|$ , and by (6.7) and Lemma 6.1, we have  $||\beta - \xi h\nu|| \lesssim \max(\eta, |\theta|)$ , as long as  $\varepsilon \leq \min(\kappa, \rho_U, 1)/2$ . Thus

$$||L'g - (g + \xi h)|| = ||(L' - L - \xi h\nu)g|| = ||(\alpha + \beta - \xi h\nu)g|| \lesssim \max(\eta, |\theta|).$$

Suppose  $\xi \geq 0$ . Then since  $h \geq \inf_{V_{\mathbb{R}}} (h/g)g$  on  $V_{\mathbb{R}}$ , it follows that

$$g + \xi h \ge \left(1 + \inf_{V_{\mathbb{R}}} (h/g) \xi\right) g.$$

Now since g is uniformly positive on  $V_{\mathbb{R}}$ , we have that

$$L'g \ge \lambda g$$
 on  $V_{\mathbb{R}}$ , where  $\lambda = 1 + \inf_{V_{\mathbb{R}}} (h/g) \, \xi + O(\max(\eta, |\theta|))$ .

Since L' and g are both positive, it follows that  $\lambda \leq \rho(L') = 1$ . Thus  $\xi = O(\max(\eta, |\theta|))$ , and the case  $\xi \leq 0$  proceeds similarly. Let  $C \geq 1$  be the implied constant, so that

$$|\xi| \le C \max(\eta, |\theta|) \le C\varepsilon.$$

**Definition 6.4.** A series function is an expression of the form

(6.8) 
$$\mathbf{f} = (f_{I,j,k}) = \sum_{I,j,k} \eta_I \theta^j \xi^k f_{I,j,k},$$

where  $f_{I,j,k}:V_{\mathbb{C}}\to\mathbb{C}$  are holomorphic functions independent of  $\theta$  and S', and I,j,k are as in (4.1). If  $\mathbf{f}$  is a series function, let

$$\|\|\mathbf{f}\|\| \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{I,j,k} (C\varepsilon)^{\Sigma(I)+j+k} \|f_{I,j,k}\|.$$

The set of series functions  $\mathbf{f}$  such that  $|||\mathbf{f}|||$  is finite, which we denote as  $\mathcal{A}$ , forms a Banach space under the norm  $|||\cdot|||$ . There is a natural projection map  $\pi: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$  defined by letting  $\pi(\mathbf{f})$  be the value of the right-hand side of (6.8). Note that  $\pi(\mathbf{f})$  depends on S', while  $\mathbf{f}$  (being merely a formal expression) does not. Since  $\eta, |\theta|, |\xi| \leq C\varepsilon$ , we have

$$\|\pi(\mathbf{f})\| \leq \|\mathbf{f}\|$$

for every series function **f**. Finally, if  $f \in \mathcal{B}$  then we abuse notation and also let f denote the series function  $f = \eta_0 \theta^0 \xi^0 f$ .

For  $I \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{N}_{>1})$ , let  $\eta_I$ ,  $\theta$ , and  $\xi$  denote the series functions given by the formulas

$$\boldsymbol{\eta}_I = \eta_I \theta^0 \xi^0 \mathbb{1}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\theta} = \eta_0 \theta^1 \xi^0 \mathbb{1}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\xi} = \eta_0 \theta^0 \xi^1 \mathbb{1}.$$

Then by replacing  $\eta_I$ ,  $\theta$ , and  $\xi$  by  $\eta_I$ ,  $\theta$ , and  $\xi$  in (6.2) and (6.5), we can construct operators  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  on A such that  $\pi(\alpha f) = \alpha f$  and  $\pi(\beta f) = \beta f$  for all  $f \in \mathcal{B}$ .

The corresponding operator norms satisfy

$$\|\alpha\| \le \|\alpha\| \lesssim \varepsilon/\kappa \asymp \varepsilon$$
 and  $\|\beta\| \le \|\beta\| \lesssim \varepsilon/\rho_U \asymp \varepsilon$ ,

as long as  $\varepsilon \leq \min(\kappa, \rho_U, 1)/2$ . Recall that  $\Delta = \alpha + \beta$ , and let  $\Delta \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \alpha + \beta$ . Then it follows from the above inequalities that

$$\|\Delta\| \le \|\Delta\| \le \varepsilon$$
.

Thus if  $\varepsilon$  is sufficiently small then (6.1) holds, and thus so does (2.4). Moreover, if  $\|\Delta\| < 1/\|Q\|$ , then

$$\sum_{p=0}^{\infty} \left| \left| \left| \Delta (Q\Delta)^p \right| \right| \right| \le \left| \left| \Delta \right| \right| \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} (\left| \left| Q \right| \cdot \left| \left| \Delta \right| \right|)^p < \infty,$$

so  $\sum_{p=0}^\infty \mathbf{\Delta}(Q\mathbf{\Delta})^p \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{A})$ . It follows that  $\sum_{p=0}^\infty \mathbf{\Delta}(Q\mathbf{\Delta})^p g \in \mathcal{A}$  and thus

$$\sum_{p=0}^{\infty} \mu \Delta (Q\Delta)^p g = \Xi \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{I,j,k} c_{I,j,k} \eta_I \theta^j \xi^k$$

for some constants  $c_{I,j,k}$ , such that

$$|c_{I,j,k}| \lesssim (C\varepsilon)^{-(\Sigma(I)+j+k)} \leq \varepsilon^{-(\Sigma(I)+j+k)}.$$

This demonstrates (4.4), and we have  $\Xi = 0$  by (2.4).

Next we want to show that the coefficients of 1 and  $\xi$  are  $c_{0,0,0}=0$  and  $c_{0,0,1}=1$ , respectively, and that if  $\widetilde{c}=0$  then the coefficient of  $\theta$  is  $c_{0,1,0}=-\widetilde{\chi}$ , where  $\widetilde{\chi}>0$  is as in (3.4). Indeed, let

$$X = \eta \vee \max(|\theta|, |\xi|)^2$$

and recall that  $A \equiv_X B$  means B - A = O(X). Then by (4.3),

$$\Xi \underset{\overline{X}}{\equiv} \mu \Delta g = \mu \alpha g + \mu \beta g \underset{\overline{X}}{\equiv} \theta \mu \alpha_1 g + \xi \mu h \nu g + \widetilde{c} \theta \mu \beta_{0,1} g$$
$$= \xi + (-\widetilde{\chi} + \widetilde{c} \mu \beta_{0,1} g) \theta,$$

which is what we wanted.

#### 7. SIMPLIFICATIONS IN SPECIAL CASES

In some special cases, we can make some simplifications to (4.1).

**Proposition 7.1.** Let  $S, \delta, S'$  be as in Theorem 4.1. Then (4.1) can be simplified in the following ways:

(i) If  $S = \emptyset$ , then (possibly after renormalizing g and  $\mu$ ) we have  $\alpha = 0$ ,  $L_1 = 0$ ,  $Q_1 = I$ , g = h,  $\mu = \nu$ ,  $c = \tilde{c} = 1/\nu h$ ,  $L = cg\mu$ , R = 0, Q = I, and

$$(7.1) \Xi = \sum_{p \ge 1} \nu \beta^p h.$$

- (ii) If  $v(0,\cdot)=0$ , then  $\beta_{i,j}=0$  for all i,j with j>i. If furthermore  $v(\cdot,0)=0$ , then  $\nu\beta_{i,j}=0$  for all i,j with j>0. If both hypotheses hold, and in addition  $S=\varnothing$ , then  $c_{I,j,k}=0$  whenever  $j\geq \Sigma(I)$  and  $(I,j)\neq (\mathbf{0},0)$ . In particular,  $c_{I,j,k}=0$  for all I,j,k with  $j\geq \Sigma(I)$  and k=0, and for all I,j,k with  $j>\Sigma(i)$ .
- (iii) If  $v(0,\cdot)=0$  and  $v(\cdot,0)=0$ , then  $\nu\beta_{i,j}h=0$  for all  $(i,j)\neq (0,0)$ . If furthermore  $S=\varnothing$ , then  $c_{I,j,0}=0$  for all I,j such that #(I)<2.
- (iv) If  $\delta = 0$ , then  $\beta_{i,0}g = \beta_{i,0}h = 0$  for all i > 0. This implies that  $c_{I,0,k} = 0$  for all I, k such that  $I \neq \mathbf{0}$ .

Since (i) is a straightforward consequence of the definitions, we proceed to the proofs of (ii)-(iv).

*Proof of (ii).* If  $v(0,\cdot)=0$ , then we can write v(b,x)=bw(b,x) for all b,x, for some holomorphic function w. Thus for all i,j,f,x with j>i,

$$\beta_{i,j}f(x) = \frac{1}{j!}\operatorname{Coeff}\left(b^i, e^{\delta v(b,x)}b^jw^j(b,x)f \circ u_b(x)\right) = 0.$$

If furthermore  $v(\cdot, 0) = 0$ , then for i, j, f with j > 0,

$$\nu\beta_{i,j}f = \mathbf{Coeff}\left(b^i\theta^j, e^{(\delta+\theta)v(b,0)}f(u_b(0))\right) = \mathbf{Coeff}\left(b^i\theta^j, f(u_b(0))\right) = 0.$$

If  $v(0,\cdot)=0$ ,  $v(\cdot,0)=0$ , and  $S=\varnothing$ , then applying (i) gives us

$$\Delta = \beta = \xi h \nu + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{i} \eta_i \theta^j \beta_{i,j},$$

and

$$\mu\Delta = \nu\beta = \xi\nu h\nu + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \eta_i \nu \beta_{i,0}.$$

One proves by induction that for every  $p \in \mathbb{N}$ 

$$\nu \beta^{p} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} c_{k} \xi^{k} \nu + \sum_{I \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{N}_{>1})} \sum_{j=0}^{\#(I)-1} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \eta_{I} \theta^{j} \xi^{k} \sigma_{i,j,k}$$

Then multiplying both sides of the above equation on the right by h and using (7.1) leads to

$$c_{I,j,k} = 0$$

whenever  $j \geq \Sigma(I)$  and  $(I, j) \neq (\mathbf{0}, 0)$ .

*Proof of (iii).* If  $v(0,\cdot)=0$ , then h=1. If furthermore  $v(\cdot,0)=0$ , then for all i,j

$$\nu\beta_{i,j}h = \operatorname{Coeff}\left(b^i\theta^j, e^{(\delta+\theta)v(b,0)}\mathbb{1}(u_b(0))\right) = \operatorname{Coeff}(b^i\theta^j, 1) = \left[i=j=0\right].$$

Here we use the Iverson bracket notation:  $[\Phi] = 1$  when  $\Phi$  is true and  $[\Phi] = 0$  when  $\Phi$  is false. By (6.5), it follows that  $\nu\beta h = \xi$ .

If furthermore  $S = \emptyset$ , then combining with part (i) gives

$$\Xi = \xi + \sum_{p=2}^{\infty} \nu \beta^p h,$$

while by part (ii), all terms  $\theta^i \tilde{c} \beta_{i,0}$  appearing in  $\beta$  vanish, and thus  $\beta$  is of the sum of terms with factors  $\xi$  and  $\eta_i$ . It follows that every term  $c_{I,j,k} \eta_I \theta^j \xi^k$  appearing in the above series satisfies  $\#(I) + k \geq 2$ . In particular, if #(I) < 2 then  $c_{I,j,0} = 0$ .

*Proof of (iv).* If  $\delta = 0$  then  $L_1 \mathbb{1} = \#(S) \mathbb{1}$  and  $h = \mathbb{1}$ , and thus  $L \mathbb{1} = (\#(S) + \widetilde{c}) \mathbb{1}$ . It follows that  $\#(S) + \widetilde{c} = 1$  and (after renormalizing)  $g = \mathbb{1}$ . Now for all i,

$$\beta_{i,0}\mathbb{1}(x) = \operatorname{Coeff}\left(b^i, e^{(0+0)v(b,x)}\mathbb{1} \circ u_b(x)\right) = \operatorname{Coeff}(b^i, 1) = \left[i = 0\right].$$

Now, the coefficient  $c_{I,0,k}$  is the sum of all products of the form  $\mu\beta_{i_1,0}Q\cdots Q\beta_{i_p,0}g$  such that  $k=\#(\ell:i_\ell=0)$  and  $I(i)=\#(\ell:i_\ell=i)$  for all i. For each such product, either  $i_1=\ldots=i_p=0$ , in which case  $I=\mathbf{0}$ , or there exists  $\ell=1,\ldots,p$  such that  $i_\ell>0$ , and either  $\beta_{i_\ell,0}Q\beta_{0,0}$  or  $\beta_{i_\ell,0}g$  is a factor of the term in question. But since  $Q\beta_{0,0}=Qh\nu=\mathbb{1}\nu$  and  $g=\mathbb{1}$ , both of these factors vanish, and thus  $c_{I,0,k}=0$ .

The next two propositions are proving slightly different things. Proposition 7.2 has the advantage that it applies to perturbations of a similarity IFS with more than one element. Proposition 7.4 has the advantage that it applies to a larger class of non-Gauss PACIFSes, such as those defined

over the system (U, V, u, v, q) where U = V = (-1/3, 1/3),  $u(b, x) = \frac{b}{1+x}$ ,  $v(b, x) = -2\log(1+x)$ , and q = 1.

In what follows, recall that  $\mathbb{Q}[x]$  denotes the ring of polynomials in the variable x with coefficients in  $\mathbb{Q}$ .

**Proposition 7.2.** Let  $S, \delta, S'$  be as in Theorem 4.1, and suppose that S is finite,  $(u_b)_{b \in S}$  consists entirely of similarities,  $v(0,\cdot) = 0$ , and  $\textbf{Coeff}(b^i, u_b(x)) \in \mathbb{Q}[x]$  for all i. Let

$$R \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathbb{Q}(\lambda_b, \lambda_b^{\delta})[\log(\lambda_b), c_b, \delta]$$

where  $\lambda_b$  is the contraction ratio of  $u_b$ ,  $c_b = u_b(0)$ , and the extensions are taken over all  $b \in S$ . Then  $c_{I,j,k} \in R$  for all I, j, k. In particular, if  $S = \emptyset$ , then  $c_{I,j,k} \in \mathbb{Q}[\delta]$  for all I, j, k.

*Proof.* We claim that  $\alpha_j, \beta_{i,j}, Q$  preserve R[x], and that  $\mu$  sends R[x] to R. Indeed, if  $f_k(x) = x^k$ , then

$$\alpha_j f_k(x) = \frac{1}{j!} \sum_{b \in S} \lambda_b^{\delta} (\pm \lambda_b x + c_b)^k \log^j(\lambda_b) \in R[x]$$

and in particular  $Lf_k(x) = \alpha_0 f_k(x)$  is a polynomial of degree k with leading coefficient  $a_k = \sum_{b \in S} \pm \lambda_b^{k+\delta} \in \mathbb{Q}[\lambda_b, \lambda_b^{\delta}]$ , which by the Moran–Hutchinson equation (e.g. [47]) satisfies  $|a_k| < 1$  when k > 0. Since  $\mu L = \mu$ , we have

$$\mu f_k = \mu L f_k = a_k \mu f_k + \sum_{k' < k} a_{k'}^{(k)} \mu f_{k'}$$

which, together with the equality  $\mu \mathbb{1} = 1$  (cf. (4.3)), yields a recursive formula for  $\mu f_k$  proving that  $\mu f_k \in R$ , and thus  $\mu f \in R$  for all  $f \in R[x]$ . Similarly,  $Q = QL + I - cg\mu$  and thus since  $g = \mathbb{1} = f_0$  and c = 1, <sup>10</sup>

$$Qf_k = a_k Qf_k + \sum_{k' < k} a_{k'}^{(k)} Qf_{k'} + f_k - f_0 \mu f_k$$

whicy yields a recursive formula for  $Qf_k$  proving that  $Qf_k(x) \in R[x]$ , and thus that Q preserves R[x]. Now since  $v(0,\cdot) = 0$ ,

$$\beta_{i,j} f_k(x) = \sum_{i'=0}^i \frac{1}{i'!} \operatorname{Coeff}\left(\theta^j, (\delta + \theta)^{i'}\right) \operatorname{Coeff}\left(b^i, b^{i'} w^{i'}(b, x) u_b^k(x)\right)$$

where v(b,x) = bw(b,x) as above. Since  $\mathbf{Coeff}(b^i,u_b(x)) \in \mathbb{Q}[x]$ , we have  $\mathbf{Coeff}(b^i,u_b'(x)) \in \mathbb{Q}[x]$  and thus  $\mathbf{Coeff}(b^i,e^{v(b,x)}) \in \mathbb{Q}[x]$  for all i. Since  $e^{v(0,x)} = 1$ , the Taylor expansion of  $\log(x)$  around x = 1 shows that  $\mathbf{Coeff}(b^i,v(b,x)) \in \mathbb{Q}[x]$  for all i. Thus  $\beta_{i,j}$  preserves R[x], which completes the proof.

**Definition 7.3.** Let R be a subring of  $\mathbb{R}$ , e.g.  $\mathbb{Q}$ . An analytic function  $f:U\to\mathbb{R}$ , where U is a neighborhood of  $\mathbf{0}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , is R-analytic if the coefficients of the Taylor expansion of f at  $\mathbf{0}$  are all in R.

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$ It is easy to see that L1 = 1, so the normalization (4.3) guarantees g = 1.

Note that R-analyticity is highly sensitive to the point that the Taylor series is expanded around; if f is R-analytic then  $x \mapsto f(x-a)$  may not be R-analytic even if  $a \in R^d$ .

**Proposition 7.4.** Let  $S, \delta, S'$  be as in Theorem 4.1, and suppose that  $S = \emptyset$ , that v(0,0) = 0, and that  $\operatorname{Coeff}(b^i x^k, u_b(x)) \in \mathbb{Q}$  for all i, k. Then  $c_{I,j,k} \in \mathbb{Q}[\delta]$  for all I, j, k.

*Proof.* By Proposition 7.1(ii),  $\Xi = \sum_{p \geq 1} \nu \beta^p h$ . Thus, all coefficients  $c_{I,j,k}$  in (4.1) can be written as linear combinations of expressions of the form  $\nu \beta_{i_1,j_1} \cdots \beta_{i_p,j_p} h$ , where  $p \geq 1$ . In turn, we can write

$$\beta_{i,j} = \sum_{i'=0}^{i} \sum_{k=0}^{i'} M_{\psi_{i',k}} f_{i-i',j} \sigma_k,$$

where

$$\begin{split} f_{i',j}(x) &= \mathbf{Coeff}\left(b^{i'}\theta^j, e^{(\delta+\theta)v(b,x)}\right), \\ \sigma_k f &= \mathbf{Coeff}\left(x^k, f(x)\right), \\ \psi_{i',k}(x) &= \mathbf{Coeff}\left(b^{i'}, u_b^k(x)\right) \end{split}$$

Thus, all coefficients can be written as linear combinations of products of expressions of the form  $\sigma_i M_{\psi_{i,k}} f_{\ell,m}$ . Here we use the fact that  $\sigma_0 = \nu$  and  $f_{0,0} = h$ .

To show that  $\sigma_i M_{\psi_{j,k}} f_{\ell,m} \in \mathbb{Q}[\delta]$ , first note that since u is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -analytic and v(0,0)=0, it follows that  $(b,x)\mapsto e^{v(b,x)}=\pm b^{-q}u_b'(x)$  is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -analytic and sends (0,0) to 1; thus v is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -analytic. Again using the fact that v(0,0)=0, it follows that  $(b,\theta,x)\mapsto e^{(\delta+\theta)v(b,x)}$  is  $\mathbb{Q}[\delta]$ -analytic. This shows that  $f_{\ell,m}$  and  $\psi_{j,k}$ , and thus  $M_{\psi_{j,k}}f_{\ell,m}$ , are  $\mathbb{Q}[\delta]$ -analytic, so  $\sigma_i M_{\psi_{j,k}}f_{\ell,m}$ , i.e. the ith coefficient of  $M_{\psi_{j,k}}f_{\ell,m}$ , is in  $\mathbb{Q}[\delta]$ .

The next proposition is not strictly necessary for our purposes, but shows how our formula is a generalization of the Moran–Hutchinson equation.

**Proposition 7.5.** If  $(u_b)_{b\in U}$  consists entirely of similarities, then (4.1) reduces to the Moran–Hutchinson equation  $e^{P'}=1$ , where P'=P(S',s). Specifically,

$$\Xi = \frac{e^{P'} - 1}{2 - e^{P'}} \cdot$$

*Proof.* All the operators  $A = L, Q, R, \alpha_j, \beta_{i,j}$  satisfy  $A\mathbb{1} = [A]\mathbb{1}$  for some  $[A] \in \mathbb{R}$ , and the map  $A \mapsto [A]$  is a ring homomorphism. Similarly, if we write  $[\sigma] = \sigma\mathbb{1}$  and  $[r\mathbb{1}] = r$ , then we get

$$\Xi = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} [\nu][\Delta]([Q][\Delta])^p[g] = \frac{[\Delta]}{1 - [Q][\Delta]},$$

since (4.3) implies  $[g] = [\nu] = 1$ . Moreover, since Lg = g, we have [L] = 1 and thus [R] = 0, [Q] = 1. So  $[\Delta] = [L'] - 1 = e^{P'} - 1$ , which completes the proof.

## 8. Solving (4.1): A motivating computation

Although the proof of Theorem 4.1 shows that (2.4) can be converted into the power series equation (4.1), there remains the question of how to solve this equation for  $\theta$ , particularly since  $\eta_i$  and  $\xi$  both depend on  $\theta$ . In some cases this is relatively easy, but in some cases more tools are needed. In this section we develop a tool that will help us solve for  $\theta$  in the more difficult cases.

We start by considering a special case consisting of similarities, so that we can use the simpler Moran–Hutchinson equation in place of (4.1). Namely, for each  $\lambda, B > 0$  wth  $\lambda + B \le 1$ , we can consider a similarity IFS on  $\mathbb R$  consisting of two elements with contraction ratios  $\lambda$  and B, with distinct fixed points. For B small, this system is a perturbation of the system consisting of ony one similarity contraction of contraction ratio  $\lambda < 1$ . On the other hand, the dimension  $\theta$  of the limit set of this IFS is given by the Moran–Hutchinson equation:

$$\lambda^{\theta} + B^{\theta} = 1.$$

We want to analyze the behavior of  $\theta$  when  $\lambda$  is fixed and  $B \to 0$ . To this end, we note that

$$(8.1) B^{\theta} = 1 - \lambda^{\theta} = \theta f(\theta)$$

for an analytic function f depending on  $\lambda$  such that  $f(0) = \log(1/\lambda) > 0$ . Taking logarithms yields

$$-C\theta = \log(\theta) + \log f(\theta),$$

where here and in the rest of this section we use the notation

(8.2) 
$$C \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} -\log(B) = \log(1/B),$$

$$D \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \log(C) = \log\log(1/B),$$

$$E \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \log(D) = \log\log\log(1/B).$$

We now follow the heuristic of changing variables in such a way so that the new variable is "closer to being bounded from above and below" than the previous variable. Thus, let  $\gamma \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} C\theta > 0$ . Then

$$\gamma = -\log(\gamma/C) - \log f(\theta) = D - \log(\gamma) - \log f(\theta).$$

Let  $\beta \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} D - \gamma$ . Then

$$\beta = \log(D - \beta) + \log f(\theta) = E + \log(1 - \beta/D) + \log f(\theta).$$

Let  $\alpha \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \beta - E$ , and note that

(8.3) 
$$\theta = \frac{D - E - \alpha}{C}.$$

Then

(8.4) 
$$\alpha = \log\left(1 - \frac{E}{D} - \frac{\alpha}{D}\right) - \log f\left(\frac{D - E - \alpha}{C}\right)$$

and thus

(8.5) 
$$\alpha = F\left(\frac{E}{D}, \frac{1}{D}, \frac{D}{C}, \alpha\right),$$

where

$$F(x, y, z, w) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \log(1 - x - yw) - \log f(z(1 - x - yw)).$$

This concludes our change of variables, and we have rewritten (8.1) as (8.5).

Note that  $F(\mathbf{0},w)=\alpha_0\stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=}-\log f(0)$  and  $F_{|4}(\mathbf{0},w)=0$  for all  $w\in\mathbb{R}$ , and F is analytic on a neighborhood of  $\{0\}^3\times\mathbb{R}$ . Thus,  $\alpha_0-F(\mathbf{0},\alpha_0)=0$  and  $\frac{\partial}{\partial w}[w-F(0,0,0,w)]=1$ . So by the implicit function theorem, the equation w-F(w,x,y,z)=0 can be solved analytically for w in terms of (x,y,z) in a neighborhood of (0,0,0). Since  $\frac{E}{D},\frac{1}{D},\frac{D}{C}\to 0$  as  $B\to 0$ , it follows that  $\alpha$  can be written as a power series in  $\frac{E}{D},\frac{1}{D},\frac{D}{C}$  whenever B is sufficiently small. By (8.3), we have

$$\theta = \frac{1}{C} \left[ D - E + \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=-j}^{\infty} \sum_{\ell=0}^{j+k} c_{j,k,\ell} \frac{E^{\ell}}{C^{j}D^{k}} \right].$$

The coefficients  $c_{i,k,\ell}$  can be computed recursively using the formula (8.4).

The following lemma generalizes the above calculation:

**Lemma 8.1.** If  $f: (\mathbf{a}, \theta, \xi) \mapsto f(\mathbf{a}, \theta, \xi)$  is analytic in a neighborhood of  $A \times \{(0, 0)\}$ , with  $f(\mathbf{a}, 0, 0) > 0$  for all  $\mathbf{a} \in A \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ , then for all B sufficiently small and for all  $\mathbf{a} \in A$ , the equation

(8.6) 
$$B^{\theta} = \theta f(\mathbf{a}, \theta, B^{\theta})$$

has a unique solution:

(8.7) 
$$\theta = \frac{1}{C} \left[ D - E - \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=-j}^{\infty} \sum_{\ell=0}^{j+k} f_{j,k,\ell}(\mathbf{a}) \frac{E^{\ell}}{C^{j}D^{k}} \right]$$

(cf. (8.2)) for some functions  $f_{j,k,\ell}$  analytic on a complex neighborhood  $A_{\mathbb{C}}$  of A, such that

$$||f_{i,k,\ell}|| \leq \varepsilon^{-(j+k+\ell)}$$

for some  $\varepsilon > 0$ . If f is constant then

$$\theta = \frac{1}{C} \left[ D - E - \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\ell=0}^{k} c_{k,\ell} \frac{E^{\ell}}{D^k} \right]$$

and if  $f(\mathbf{a}, 0, 0) = 1$  then  $f_{0,k,0}(\mathbf{a}) = 0$  for all k. If  $f(\mathbf{a}, 0, 0) = 1$  and f is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -analytic, then so are  $f_{j,k,\ell}$ .

*Proof.* First note that if  $\alpha$  is defined as the unique solution to (8.3), i.e.  $\alpha \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} D - E - C\theta$ , then

$$B^{\theta} = e^{-(D - E - \alpha)} = \frac{D}{C}e^{\alpha}.$$

Thus, repeating the above calculations shows that the equation (8.6) is equivalent to

$$\alpha = F\left(\mathbf{a}, \frac{E}{D}, \frac{1}{D}, \frac{D}{C}, \alpha\right),$$

where

$$F(\mathbf{a}, x, y, z, w) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \log(1 - x - yw) - \log f(\mathbf{a}, z(1 - x - yw), ze^w).$$

As before, we have  $F(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{0}, w) = \alpha_0(\mathbf{a}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} -\log f(\mathbf{a}, 0, 0, 0)$  and  $F_{|5}(\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{0}, w) = 0$  for all  $w \in \mathbb{R}$ , and F is analytic in a neighborhood of  $A \times \{\mathbf{0}\} \times \mathbb{R}$ . So as before, by the implicit function theorem the equation  $w = F(\mathbf{a}, x, y, z, w)$  can be solved analytically for w in terms of  $(\mathbf{a}, x, y, z)$  in a neighborhood of  $A \times \{\mathbf{0}\}$ , and thus  $\alpha$  can be written as a power series in  $\frac{E}{D}, \frac{1}{D}, \frac{D}{C}$  with coefficients in  $\mathbb{H}(U_{\mathbb{C}})$  whenever B is sufficiently small, for some complex neighborhood  $A_{\mathbb{C}}$  of A. Applying (8.3) demonstrates (8.7).

If f is constant, then  $F(\mathbf{a}, x, y, z, w)$  is constant with respect to  $\mathbf{a}, z$ , so  $\alpha$  can be written as a power series in  $\frac{E}{D}, \frac{1}{D}$ . If  $f(\mathbf{a}, 0, 0) = 1$ , then  $F(\mathbf{a}, 0, y, 0, 0) = 0$ , which implies that the solution of  $w = F(\mathbf{a}, x, y, z, w)$  vanishes on the line x = z = 0. It follows that  $f_{0,k,0}(\mathbf{a}) = 0$  for all k.

#### 9. Gauss IFS Examples

We now use Theorem 4.1 to compute and estimate the Hausdorff dimensions of sets of the form

$$F_E = \{[0; n_1, n_2, \ldots] : n_1, n_2, \ldots \in E\}$$

where  $E \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ , and  $[0; n_1, n_2, \ldots]$  represents the continued fraction expansion with partial quotients  $n_1, n_2, \ldots$  To this end we define a tuple (U, V, u, v, q) as in Definition 3.1, so that each set  $E \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  corresponds to an OSC PACIFS

$$S(E) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{1/n : n \in E\}$$

whose limit set is  $F_E$ . Let  $U=V=(-\varepsilon,1+\varepsilon)$  with  $0<\varepsilon<1$  and consider the map  $u:U\times V\to V$  defined by

$$u(b,x) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{b}{1+bx}$$
.

This family is not uniformly contracting since  $u_1'(0) = -1$ , but after conjugating by e.g. the map  $\phi(x) = 1/(1+x)$ , the family  $(\phi \circ u_b \circ \phi^{-1})_{b \in U}$  is uniformly contracting, so the same results apply as for OSC PACIFSes.

**Lemma 9.1.** For  $E \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ , we have  $\Lambda_{S(E)} = F_E$ .

*Proof.* For each  $n \in E$  we have  $u_{1/n}(x) = 1/(n+x)$ , and thus for each sequence  $n_1, n_2, \ldots$ ,

$$\pi(1/n_1, 1/n_2, \ldots) = [0; n_1, n_2, \ldots].$$

Remark 9.2. We have

$$v(b, x) = -2\log(1 + bx),$$
  $q = 2,$   $h(x) = 1.$ 

Note that  $v(0,\cdot)=0$  and  $v(\cdot,0)=0$  and that u is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -analytic.

If  $E = \mathbb{N}$ , then  $\delta = 1$ , and since  $\mu h = \nu g = 1$ , we have g(x) = 1/(1+x), and  $\mu$  is the Lebesgue measure on [0, 1]. In this case, we have  $1/c = \mu g = \log(2)$ .

In what follows we will consider various sequences of sets  $E_N \to E$  (we recall that this notation means that the characteristic functions converge pointwise). In each case we let S = S(E) and  $S' = S_N = S(E_N)$ . Similarly, we write

$$\delta_E \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \delta_S,$$
  $\delta_N \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \delta_{S_N},$   $\delta \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \lim_{N \to \infty} \delta_N,$   $\theta = \delta_N - \delta,$   $P(E, s) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} P(S(E), s),$   $F_N \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} F_{E_N} = \Lambda_{S_N}.$ 

Note that

$$\eta_i = \sum_{n \in E_N - E} \frac{1}{n^{2(\delta + \theta) + i}}$$

Our goal is now to express  $\eta_i$  in terms of N and  $\theta$ , as well as information about the sequence  $(E_N)$ . To do this we consider various cases for the sequence  $(E_N)$ .

## 9.1. Polynomial sequences. The two sequences considered in the introduction,

$$E_N = \{1, ..., N\} \to E = \mathbb{N},$$
  $E_N = \{N, N+1, ...\} \to E = \emptyset,$ 

share the property that the symmetric difference  $E\triangle E_N$  is a tail of  $\mathbb N$ . Evidently, this means we need similar methods to compute or estimate  $\eta_i$  in these two cases; specifically, we need the Euler–Maclaurin formula. It turns out that the Euler–Maclaurin formula is also useful in the more general case where  $E\triangle E_N$  is the tail of a polynomial sequence in  $\mathbb N$  (and  $(E_N)$  is either ascending or descending).

**Theorem 9.3** (Euler–Maclaurin formula, [1,65]). Given natural numbers M < N and p, let f be a p-times continuously differentiable function defined on [M, N]. Then

$$\sum_{n=M}^{N} f(n) = \int_{M}^{N} f(x) \, \mathrm{d}x + \frac{f(M) + f(N)}{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{\lfloor p/2 \rfloor} \frac{B_{2i}}{(2i)!} \left( f^{(2i-1)}(N) - f^{(2i-1)}(M) \right) + R_p,$$

where  $(B_i)$  is the sequence of Bernoulli numbers, and

$$|R_p| \le \frac{2\zeta(p)}{(2\pi)^p} \int_M^N |f^{(p)}(x)| dx.$$

For  $\alpha > 0$ , letting  $f(x) = x^{-(1+\alpha)}$  and taking the limit as  $N \to \infty$  yields the following corollary:

**Corollary.** Fix  $p \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $C < \infty$ , and  $\alpha > 0$  such that  $|\alpha| \leq C$ . Then for all  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\sum_{n \succ N} \frac{1}{n^{1+\alpha}} = \frac{N^{-\alpha}}{\alpha} + \sum_{i=1}^{p-1} P_i^{\pm}(\alpha) N^{-(i+\alpha)} + O_{p,C}(N^{-(p+\alpha)})$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Note that g is usually normalized so that  $\mu g=1$ , i.e.  $g(x)=\frac{1}{\log(2)(1+x)}$ ; however, we find the normalization (4.3) more convenient.

where  $\succ$  can be taken to mean either  $\ge$  or >, with the  $\pm$  on the right-hand side depending on which choice is made, and  $(P_i^{\pm})_{i>1}$  is an explicit sequence of polynomials (with rational coefficients):

$$P_i^{\pm}(\alpha) = \frac{B_i^{\pm}}{i!} \binom{-(1+\alpha)}{i-1}$$

where we use the convention  $B_1^+=1/2$ ,  $B_1^-=-1/2$  for the Bernoulli sequence. Note that  $P_1^\pm(\alpha)=\pm 1/2$ .

By taking a formal limit as  $p \to \infty$  we can think of this as an asymptotic expansion of the sum  $\sum_{n \succeq N} \frac{1}{n^{1+\alpha}}$ :

(9.1) 
$$\sum_{n \succeq N} \frac{1}{n^{1+\alpha}} \equiv \frac{N^{-\alpha}}{\alpha} + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} P_i^{\pm}(\alpha) N^{-(i+\alpha)}$$

where  $A \equiv \sum_{i=i_0}^{+\infty} a_i x_i$  means that for all  $p \geq i_0$ ,

$$A = \sum_{i=j_0}^{p-1} a_i x_i + O_p(x_p).^{12}$$

However, note that the series (9.1) does not actually converge (due to the explosion of the sequence of Bernoulli coefficients  $(B_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}$ ).

Now let  $(s_n)$  be a sequence defined by a polynomial of degree d and leading coefficient a > 0, say

$$s_n = a(n^d + b_1 n^{d-1} + \ldots + b_d).$$

Fix  $\alpha > 0$ . Then for all n sufficiently large,

$$\frac{1}{s_n^{(1+\alpha)/d}} = \frac{(1+b_1n^{-1}+\ldots+b_dn^{-d})^{-(1+\alpha)/d}}{a^{(1+\alpha)/d}n^{1+\alpha}} = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{f_i(\alpha)}{n^{1+i+\alpha}}$$

for some entire functions  $f_i$ , with  $f_0(\alpha) = a^{-(1+\alpha)/d}$ . Applying (9.1) shows that

(9.2) 
$$\sum_{n \succ N} \frac{1}{s_n^{(1+\alpha)/d}} \equiv a^{-(1+\alpha)/d} \frac{N^{-\alpha}}{\alpha} + \sum_{i=0}^{+\infty} \widehat{f_i}(\alpha) N^{-(i+\alpha)}$$

for some functions  $\widehat{f}_i$  holomorphic on  $\mathbb{C}_{>-1}$ , where for each  $r \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\mathbb{C}_{>r} \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : \operatorname{Re} z > r \}.$$

We are now ready to prove Theorems 1.1 and 1.2 from the introduction:

$$A = \sum_{i=i_0}^{p-1} \sum_{j=j_0}^{q-1} a_{ij} x_i y_j + O_p(x_p) + O_q(y_q).$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>In the sequel, multiple summations are handled as follows:  $A \equiv \sum_{i=i_0}^{+\infty} \sum_{j=j_0}^{+\infty} a_{ij}x_iy_j$  means that for all  $p \geq i_0$ ,  $q \geq j_0$ ,

**Proposition 9.4.** Let  $(s_n)$  be a polynomial sequence of degree d, let  $F \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  be an empty or strongly regular set disjoint from  $\{s_M, s_{M+1}, \ldots\}$  for some M, and consider the following cases:

(
$$\nearrow$$
)  $E_N = F \cup \{s_M, \dots, s_N\} \rightarrow E = F \cup \{s_M, s_{M+1}, \dots\}$ 

$$(\searrow) E_N = F \cup \{s_N, s_{N+1}, \ldots\} \to E = F$$

Note that  $\delta = \lim \delta_N = \max(\delta_E, 1/2d)$ , and for convenience of notation write  $\overline{\delta} = 2d\delta - 1 \ge 0$  and  $\overline{\theta} = 2d\theta$ .

(i) Suppose  $\delta > 1/2d$ , i.e.  $\overline{\delta} > 0$ . Then

(9.3) 
$$\dim_H(F_N) = \delta_N \equiv \delta + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} c_{i,k,j} \frac{\log^j(N)}{N^{i+k\bar{\delta}}},$$

with  $c_{0,1,0} = \pm 1/\widetilde{\chi}$ . (Here and hereafter  $\pm$  represents + in the case ( $\searrow$ ), and - in the case ( $\nearrow$ ).) In the case ( $\nearrow$ ), if  $F = \emptyset$ ,  $s_n = n$ , and M = 1, then (9.3) reduces to (1.3).

(ii) Suppose  $\delta = 1/2d$ , i.e.  $\overline{\delta} = 0$ . Then

(9.4) 
$$\dim_{H}(F_{N}) = \delta_{N} \equiv \frac{1}{2d} + \frac{1}{Ad\log(N)} \left[ \log\log(N) - \log\log\log(N) + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=[i>0]}^{\infty} \sum_{k=-j}^{\infty} \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} c_{i,j,k,\ell} \frac{\log^{\ell}\log\log(N)}{N^{i}\log^{j}(N)\log^{k}\log(N)} \right]$$

for some constants  $c_{i,j,k,\ell}$ , where A=2 if  $\widetilde{c}>0$  and A=1 if  $\widetilde{c}=0$ . If  $F=\varnothing$  and a=1, then  $c_{i,j,k,\ell}\in\mathbb{Q}$  for all  $i,j,k,\ell$ . In the case ( $\searrow$ ), if  $F=\varnothing$  and  $s_n=n$ , then (9.4) reduces to (1.5), and the constants  $c_{k,\ell}$  and  $c_{i,j,k,\ell}$  have the values specified in Theorem 1.2.

Parts (i) and (ii) imply Theorems 1.1 and 1.2, respectively.

*Proof.* First we observe by direct calculation that for all N, the sets  $\{s_M, \ldots, s_N\}$  and  $\{s_N, s_{N+1}, \ldots\}$  are strongly regular. Since the union of two strongly regular sets is strongly regular, it follows that E is empty or strongly regular, and the  $E_N$ s are strongly regular. Thus Theorem 4.1 applies, and (4.1) holds.

By (9.2), for all  $i' \ge 0$  we have

(9.5) 
$$\eta_{i'} = \pm \sum_{n \succ N} \frac{1}{s_n^{2(\delta+\theta)+i'}} = \pm \sum_{n \succ N} \frac{1}{s_n^{(1+di'+\overline{\delta}+\overline{\theta})/d}}$$

$$\equiv \pm a^{-(1+di'+\overline{\delta}+\overline{\theta})/d} \frac{N^{-(di'+\overline{\delta}+\overline{\theta})}}{di'+\overline{\delta}+\overline{\theta}} + \sum_{i=1}^{\to \infty} \widehat{f_i} (di'+\overline{\delta}+\overline{\theta}) N^{-(i+di'+\overline{\delta}+\overline{\theta})}$$

$$= N^{-(\overline{\delta}+\overline{\theta})} \begin{cases} \frac{a^{-(1+\overline{\theta})/d}}{\overline{\theta}} + \sum_{i=1}^{\to \infty} F_i^{(0)}(\overline{\theta}) N^{-i} & i' = \overline{\delta} = 0\\ \sum_{i=di'}^{\to \infty} F_i^{(i')}(\overline{\theta}) N^{-i} & di'+\overline{\delta} > 0, \end{cases}$$

where  $F_i^{(i')}$  is analytic on  $W \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathbb{C}_{>-t}$ , where  $t = \overline{\delta}$  if  $\overline{\delta} > 0$  and t = 1 if  $\overline{\delta} = 0$ . The reason first term of the case  $i' = \overline{\delta} = 0$  is positive is that in the case ( $\nearrow$ ), direct calculation shows that  $\delta = \delta_E > 1/2d$  and thus  $\overline{\delta} > 0$ . In what follows we assume that  $\varepsilon < t$ , so that  $B_{\mathbb{C}}(0, \varepsilon) \subseteq W$ .

It follows that

(9.6) 
$$\eta_I \equiv N^{-\#(I)(\overline{\delta}+\overline{\theta})} \sum_{i=d\Sigma(I)}^{\to \infty} F_i^{(I)}(\overline{\theta}) N^{-i}$$

with  $F_i^{(I)}$  analytic on W, for all  $I \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{N})$  if  $\overline{\delta} > 0$  and for all  $I \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{N}_{\geq 1})$  if  $\overline{\delta} = 0$ . We now consider the two cases (i) and (ii).

(i) Suppose  $\overline{\delta}>0$ . Then since E is regular and  $\delta=\delta_E$ , we have  $\widetilde{c}=0$  and thus (4.2) holds. Note that  $\eta\leq s_N^{-1}\lesssim N^{-d}$  and

$$|\eta_0| \lesssim N^{-(\overline{\delta}+\overline{\theta})} \le N^{-\overline{\delta}/2}$$

for all sufficiently large N. Let C denote the implied constant. Then for all I, j, by (4.5) we have

$$|c_{I,j} \eta_I \theta^j| \le \varepsilon^{-(\Sigma(I) + I(0) + j)} C^{\Sigma(I) + I(0)} N^{-(d\Sigma(I) + (\overline{\delta}/2)I(0))} (\varepsilon/2)^j$$

assuming N is sufficiently large. Now fix  $p,q\in\mathbb{N}$ . Since

$$|c_{I,j} \eta_I \theta^j| \le \begin{cases} N^{-dp} 2^{-(\Sigma(I) + I(0) + j)} & \Sigma(I) \ge p \\ N^{-(\overline{\delta}/2)q} 2^{-(\Sigma(I) + I(0) + j)} & I(0) \ge q \end{cases}$$

as long as N is sufficiently large, by (4.2) we have

$$\Xi = \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{N}) \\ \Sigma(I)$$

and by (4.5), for each I the function  $F_I(\theta) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_j c_{I,j} \theta^j$  is analytic on (a neighborhood of)  $B_{\mathbb{C}}(0, \varepsilon/2) \subseteq W$ . Combining with (9.6) and using the fact that  $\eta_0 = 1$ ,  $c_{0,0} = 0$ , and  $c_{0,1} = -\widetilde{\chi}$  gives

$$\Xi \equiv -\widetilde{\chi}\theta + \sum_{i=2}^{\infty} c_{0,j}\theta^{j} + \sum_{i=0}^{\to\infty} \sum_{k=1}^{\to\infty} F_{i,k}(\theta) N^{-(i+k(\overline{\delta}+\overline{\theta}))}$$

where the functions

$$F_{i,k} = \sum_{\substack{I \in \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{N}) \\ d\Sigma(I) \leq i \\ \#(I) = k}} F_I F_i^{(I)}$$

are analytic on (a neighborhood of)  $B_{\mathbb{C}}(0, \varepsilon/2)$ . Thus, the equation (4.1) (i.e.  $\Xi = 0$ ) can be solved for  $\theta$  as

$$\theta \equiv \frac{1}{\widetilde{\chi}} \left[ \sum_{j=2}^{\infty} c_{\mathbf{0},j} \theta^j + \sum_{i=0}^{+\infty} \sum_{k=1}^{+\infty} F_{i,k}(\theta) \exp\left(-k \,\overline{\theta} \log(N)\right) N^{-(i+k\overline{\delta})} \right].$$

Letting  $\gamma = N^{\overline{\delta}}\theta$ , we have

$$\gamma \equiv \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} c_{\mathbf{0},j+1} \gamma^{j+1} N^{-j\overline{\delta}} + \sum_{i=0}^{+\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{+\infty} F_{i,k+1} \left( \frac{1}{N^{\overline{\delta}}} \gamma \right) \exp \left( -2d(k+1) \frac{\log(N)}{N^{\overline{\delta}}} \gamma \right) N^{-(i+k\overline{\delta})}.$$

Solving for  $\gamma$  in terms of  $N^{-1}$ ,  $N^{-\overline{\delta}}$ , and  $N^{-\overline{\delta}}\log(N)$ , and then multiplying by  $N^{-\overline{\delta}}$  yields

$$\theta = \sum_{i=0}^{+\infty} \sum_{k=1}^{+\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} c_{i,k,j} \frac{\log^{j}(N)}{N^{i+k\bar{\delta}}} \cdot$$

Note that  $\widetilde{\chi}c_{0,1,0} = F_{0,1}(0) = F_{\{0\}}(0)F_0^{(\{0\})}(0)c_{\{0\},0} = F_0^{(\{0\})} = \pm 1$ , so  $c_{0,1,0} = \pm 1/\widetilde{\chi}$ . In the case ( $\nearrow$ ), if  $F = \varnothing$ ,  $s_n = n$ , and M = 1, then  $d = \delta = 1$  and thus  $\overline{\delta} = 1$ , so

$$\dim_H(F_{\leq N}) \equiv 1 + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{i-1} c_{i,j} \frac{\log^j(N)}{N^i}.$$

This proves Theorem 1.1 from the introduction. See Appendix A for the computation of some of the coefficients  $c_{i,j}$  in this case.

(ii) Suppose  $\overline{\delta} = 0$ . Let  $\widehat{\xi} = a^{-(1+\overline{\theta})/d} N^{-\overline{\theta}}/\overline{\theta} - \widetilde{c}$  and  $\widehat{\eta} = \xi - \widehat{\xi} = \eta_0 - a^{-(1+\overline{\theta})/d} N^{-\overline{\theta}}/\overline{\theta}$ . Then by (9.6) and (4.4), we have

$$\Xi \equiv \sum_{i=0}^{+\infty} F_i(\overline{\theta}, \xi, N^{-\overline{\theta}}) N^{-i},$$

where the  $F_i$ s are analytic on  $B_{\mathbb{C}}(0, \varepsilon/2)^3 \subseteq W \times \mathbb{C}^2$ . (In fact,  $F_i$  is a polynomial of degree  $\le i$  with respect to its third input.) Next, observe that by (9.5) we have

$$\widehat{\eta} = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} F_i^{(0)}(\overline{\theta}) N^{-(i+\overline{\theta})}.$$

Since  $\xi=\widehat{\eta}+\widehat{\xi}$  and  $N^{-\overline{\theta}}=a^{(1+\overline{\theta})/d}\overline{\theta}(\widetilde{c}+\widehat{\xi}$ ), it follows that

$$\Xi \equiv \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} G_i(\overline{\theta}, \widehat{\xi}) N^{-i},$$

where the  $G_i$ s are analytic on a neighborhood of (0,0). By direct calculation, we have  $G_0(0,0)=c_{\mathbf{0},0,0}=0$  and  $(G_0)_{|2}(0,0)=c_{\mathbf{0},0,1}=1$ . Thus, the equation (4.1) (i.e.  $\Xi=0$ ) can be solved for  $\widehat{\xi}$ :

(9.7) 
$$\widehat{\xi} = a^{-(1+\overline{\theta})/d} \frac{N^{-\overline{\theta}}}{\overline{\theta}} - \widetilde{c} \equiv \sum_{i=0}^{+\infty} \widehat{G}_i(\overline{\theta}) N^{-i},$$

where the  $\widehat{G}_i$ s are analytic on a neighborhood of 0, and by direct calculation,  $G_i(0,\cdot)=0$  and thus  $\widehat{G}_i(0)=0$  for all i>0; similarly,  $\widehat{G}_0(0)=0$  since  $G_i(0,0)=0$ . If  $\widetilde{c}>0$ , then by solving for  $N^{-\overline{\theta}}$ , using Lemma 8.1 to solve for  $\overline{\theta}$  (with a  $=N^{-1}$ ), and finally solving for  $\delta_N$  in terms of  $\overline{\theta}$ , we complete the proof of (9.4). (Note that Lemma 8.1 applies to asymptotic expansions because it applies to the estimates of which the asymptotic expansion is a limit.) The inequality  $j\geq [i>0]$  corresponds to the fact that  $\widehat{G}_i(0)=0$  for all i, since  $\overline{\theta}\sim \frac{\log\log(N)}{Ad\log(N)}$ . So suppose that  $\widetilde{c}=0$ . Then direct calculation gives  $G_i(\cdot,0)=G_i(0,\cdot)=0$  for all i>0,

So suppose that  $\widetilde{c}=0$ . Then direct calculation gives  $G_i(\cdot,0)=G_i(0,\cdot)=0$  for all i>0, and thus  $\widehat{G}'_i(0)=0$  for such i. On the other hand, since  $S\neq\varnothing$  we have  $\widehat{G}'_0(0)=-c_{0,1,0}=\widetilde{\chi}>0$ . So (9.7) becomes

$$N^{-\overline{\theta}} \equiv \overline{\theta}^2 \left( a^{1/d} \widetilde{\chi} + \overline{\theta} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} H_i(\overline{\theta}) N^{-i} \right)$$

for some analytic functions  $H_i$ . By taking the square root, using Lemma 8.1 to solve for  $\overline{\theta}/2$ , and solving for  $\delta_N$  in terms of  $\overline{\theta}$ , we complete the proof of (9.4). The inequality  $j \geq [i > 0]$  corresponds to the fact that  $\widehat{G}_i(0) = 0$  and  $\widehat{G}'_i(0) = 0$  for all i > 0.

Suppose that  $S=\varnothing$  and a=1. Then since  $s_n\in\mathbb{N}$  for all n, we have  $b_1,\ldots,b_d\in\mathbb{Q}$  and thus for all i we have  $f_i(x)\in\mathbb{Q}[x]$  and  $\widehat{f_i}(x)\in\mathbb{Q}(x)$ , with notation as in (9.2). It follows that all  $F_i$ s and  $F_i^{(0)}$ s are  $\mathbb{Q}$ -analytic and thus by Proposition 7.4,  $G_i$  and  $\widehat{G}_i$  are  $\mathbb{Q}$ -analytic. Since  $\widetilde{c}=1/\nu h=1$ , it follows that  $c_{i,j,k,\ell}\in\mathbb{Q}$  for all  $i,j,k,\ell$ . Moreover, by Proposition 7.1(ii) and direct calculation we find that  $\widehat{G}_0(\cdot)=0$ . Since  $a=\widetilde{c}=1$ , it follows that

$$(9.8) N^{-\overline{\theta}} \equiv \overline{\theta}$$

where  $X = N^{-1}\overline{\theta}^2$ . The second part of Lemma 8.1 now demonstrates (1.5).

We now wish to check that the values specified in Theorem 1.2 are correct. By (9.8), the coefficients  $c_{k,\ell}$  are the same as the coefficients arising from the equation  $N^{-\overline{\theta}} = \overline{\theta}$ , so they can be computed explicitly from (8.4) without any operator calculations, and we omit their calculation. On the other hand, since

$$f(a, \overline{\theta}, \xi) = 1 + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \widehat{G}_i(\overline{\theta}) a^i$$

in Lemma 8.1, we have

$$\begin{split} c_{1,1,-1,0} &= -(\log f)_{|12}(0,0,0) \\ &= -\widehat{G}_1'(0) = (G_1)_{|1}(0,0) = \mathbf{Coeff}\left(N^{-1}\overline{\theta}, c_{\mathbf{0},0,1}\widehat{\eta} \,+\, c_{\{1\},0,0}\eta_1 \,+\, c_{\mathbf{0},1,0}\theta\right) \\ &= \mathbf{Coeff}\left(N^{-(1+\overline{\theta})}, \widehat{\eta}\right) = -P_1^+(0) = -1/2. \end{split}$$

This completes the proof.

9.2. **Quasi-geometric sequences.** We can ask what happens in the cases ( $\nearrow$ ) and ( $\searrow$ ) of Proposition 9.4 when instead of being a polynomial sequence, the sequence  $(s_n)$  is an exponentially

growing sequence such as a geometric sequence or the Fibonacci sequence  $s_n = s_{n-1} + s_{n-2}$  (initial conditions  $s_0 = 0$ ,  $s_1 = 1$ ). Recall that the *n*th term in the Fibonacci sequence is given by the formula

$$(9.9) s_n = a\lambda^n (1 + b\rho^n)$$

where  $a = \frac{1}{\sqrt{5}}$ ,  $\lambda = \phi = \frac{1+\sqrt{5}}{2}$ , b = -1, and  $\rho = \overline{\phi}/\phi = -\phi^{-2}$ . The formula (9.9) can also be used to describe a geometric sequence, by letting a and  $\lambda$  be integers and b = 0.

**Proposition 9.5.** Let  $(s_n)$  be a sequence of positive integers defined by (9.9), with a > 0,  $\lambda > 1$ ,  $b \in \mathbb{R}$ , and  $|\rho| < 1$ . Let  $F \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  be empty or strongly regular and disjoint from  $\{s_M, s_{M+1}, \ldots\}$  for some M, and let  $E_N \to E$  be as in  $(\nearrow)$  or  $(\searrow)$  of Proposition 9.4.

(i) If  $\delta > 0$ , then

(9.10) 
$$\theta = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} c_{k,i,h,j} (\lambda^{-(2\delta k+i)} \rho^h)^N N^j.$$

(ii) If  $\delta = 0$ , then

(9.11)

$$\theta = \frac{1}{A \log(\lambda)} \frac{1}{N} \left[ \log(N) - \log\log(N) + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=-j}^{\infty} \sum_{\ell=0}^{j+k} c_{i,h,j,k,\ell} (\lambda^{-i} \rho^h)^N \frac{\log^{\ell} \log(N)}{N^j \log^k(N)} \right],$$
where  $A = 2$  if  $\widetilde{c} > 0$  and  $A = 1$  if  $\widetilde{c} = 0$  (equivalently,  $A = 2$  if  $E = \infty$  and  $A = 1$ ).

where A=2 if  $\widetilde{c}>0$  and A=1 if  $\widetilde{c}=0$  (equivalently, A=2 if  $E=\varnothing$  and A=1 if #(E)=1). Moreover,  $c_{i,j,k,h}\in R\stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=}\mathbb{Q}(\lambda,\rho)[a,\log(a),\log(\lambda),b,\log(\rho)]$  for all i,j,k,h.

Note that these formulas are exact and are not asymptotic expansions.

**Remark.** Proposition 9.5 can be generalized to the setting where (9.9) is replaced by the formula

$$s_n = a\lambda^n \left( 1 + \sum_{i=1}^d b_i \rho_i^n \right).$$

This can be proven by making minor changes to the proof below.

*Proof.* As in the proof of Proposition 9.4, for all N we observe by direct calculation that the sets  $\{s_M, \ldots, s_N\}$  and  $\{s_N, s_{N+1}, \ldots\}$  are strongly regular, and thus since the union of two strongly regular sets is strongly regular, it follows that E is empty or strongly regular and the  $E_N$ s are strongly regular, so Theorem 4.1 applies and (4.1) holds.

Let  $\omega = 1$  if ( $\nearrow$ ) holds and  $\omega = 0$  if ( $\searrow$ ) holds. Then  $\eta_i = \pm f_\omega(2(\delta + \theta) + i)$ , where

$$f_{\omega}(\alpha) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{n \geq N+\omega} \frac{1}{s_n^{\alpha}} = \sum_{n \geq N+\omega} a^{-\alpha} \lambda^{-n\alpha} \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} {\binom{-\alpha}{h}} b^h \rho^{hn}$$

$$= \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} a^{-\alpha} {\binom{-\alpha}{h}} b^h \sum_{n \geq N+\omega} (\lambda^{-\alpha} \rho^h)^n = \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} a^{-\alpha} {\binom{-\alpha}{h}} b^h \frac{(\lambda^{-\alpha} \rho^h)^{N+\omega}}{1 - \lambda^{-\alpha} \rho^h}$$

$$= \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} f_{t,\omega}(\alpha) (\lambda^{-\alpha} \rho^h)^N$$

where for each h > 0,  $f_{h,\omega}(\alpha) = a^{-\alpha} {-\alpha \choose h} b^h \frac{(\lambda^{-\alpha} \rho^h)^{\omega}}{1-\lambda^{-\alpha} \rho^h}$  is analytic on  $W = \mathbb{C}_{>\log(\rho)/\log(\lambda)}$ ; similarly,  $f_{0,\omega}$  is analytic on  $\mathbb{C}_{>0}$ . Note that since

$$\left| {z \choose h} \right| \le \frac{(|z|+h)^h}{h!} \le \left( \frac{e(|z|+h)}{h} \right)^h$$
$$\le e^h \exp(|z|/h)^h = e^{h+|z|},$$

we have  $|f_{h,\omega}(\alpha)| \lesssim C^{h+|\alpha|}$  for some constant  $C \geq 1$ .

It follows that

$$\eta_{i} = \pm f_{\omega} \left( 2(\delta + \theta) + i \right) = \lambda^{-2(\delta + \theta)N} \lambda^{-iN} \begin{cases} \frac{a^{-2\theta}}{1 - \lambda^{-2\theta}} + \sum_{h=1}^{\infty} f_{h,\omega}(2\theta) \rho^{hN} & \delta = i = 0\\ \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} \pm f_{h,\omega}(2(\delta + \theta) + i) \rho^{hN} & 2\delta + i > 0 \end{cases}$$

where as before, if  $\delta=i=0$  we use direct calculation to rule out the case ( $\nearrow$ ), allowing us to conclude that the first term of the top case is positive, as well as to reduce this term using the equality  $\omega=0$ . Now since  $|f_{h,\omega}(2(\delta+\theta)+i))| \lesssim C^{i+h}$  for all  $\theta$  sufficiently close to 0, there exists a ball B centered at 0 satisfying the required bounds appearing Corollary 4.2 for the appropriate functions  $F_i$ ,  $F_*$ , where

$$\mathbf{t}_N = \begin{cases} (\lambda^{-2(\delta+\theta)N}, \lambda^{-N}, \rho^N) & \text{if } \delta > 0\\ (\lambda^{-2(\delta+\theta)N}, \lambda^{-N}, \rho^N, \widehat{\xi}) & \text{if } \delta = 0 \end{cases}$$

Here  $\widehat{\xi} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \lambda^{-2\theta N} \frac{a^{-2\theta}}{1-\lambda^{-2\theta}} - \widetilde{c}$ , and we use the fact that  $\widetilde{c} = 0$  when  $\delta > 0$  to write  $\xi$  in terms of  $\mathbf{t}_N, \theta$  in that case. Thus by Corollary 4.2, there exists a function f analytic on B such that  $\Xi = f(\mathbf{t}_N, \theta)$ .

(i) Suppose that  $\delta > 0$ . Then

$$\Xi = F_{\mathbf{0}}(\theta) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} F_{k,i,h}(\theta) \exp(-2kN\theta) \lambda^{-2k\delta N} \lambda^{-iN} \rho^{hN}$$
$$= F_{\mathbf{0}}(\theta) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} F_{k,i,h}(\theta) \frac{(-2kN\theta)^{j}}{j!} \lambda^{-2k\delta N} \lambda^{-iN} \rho^{hN}$$

where  $(F_{k,i,h})$  are analytic in a fixed neighborhood of  $\mathbf{0}$ , and  $F_{\mathbf{0}}(0) = 0$  and  $F'_{\mathbf{0}}(0) = c_{\mathbf{0},1,0} = -\widetilde{\chi} \neq 0$ . Letting  $\gamma = \lambda^{2\delta N}\theta$ , solving for  $\gamma$ , and then dividing by  $\lambda^{2\delta N}$  yields (9.10).

(ii) Now suppose that  $\delta=0$ . Then since  $\delta_E \leq \delta$ , we have  $\#(E) \leq 1$  and thus we are in the case ( $\searrow$ ). Now let  $\widehat{\eta}=\xi-\widehat{\xi}=\eta_0-a^{-2\theta}\lambda^{-2\theta N}/(1-\lambda^{-2\theta})$ . Since  $\lambda^{-2\theta N}=(1-\lambda^{-2\theta})(\widetilde{c}+\widehat{\xi})$  and  $\xi=\widehat{\eta}+\widehat{\xi}$ , it follows that

$$\Xi = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} F_{i,h}(\theta, \widehat{\xi}) \lambda^{-iN} \rho^{hN}$$

for some analytic functions  $F_{i,h}$ , and by direct calculation we have  $F_{0,0}(0,0)=0$  and  $F_{0,0|2}(0,0)=c_{0,0,1}=1$ . Thus we can solve for  $\widehat{\xi}$ , which yields

$$\frac{\lambda^{-2\theta N}}{2\theta \log(\lambda)} = \left(\frac{1 - \lambda^{-2\theta}}{2\theta \log(\lambda)}\right) \left(\widetilde{c} + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \sum_{h=0}^{\infty} F_{i,h}(\theta) (\lambda^{-i} \rho^h)^N\right).$$

Note that  $F_{i,h}(0) = 0$  for all i, h, since on a formal level, when  $\theta = 0$ , we have  $\lambda^{-2\theta} = 0$  and thus  $\eta_i = 0$  for all i > 0.

If  $E = \emptyset$  then  $\widetilde{c} = 1$ , and thus Lemma 8.1 applies (with  $\overline{\theta} = 2\theta \log(\lambda)$ ,  $B = e^{-N}$ , and  $\mathbf{a} = (\lambda^{-N}, \rho^N)$ ), yielding (9.11) with A = 2. It can be shown using Proposition 7.2 that  $c_{i,h,j,k,\ell} \in R$  for all k,i,h. This is because each function

$$F_h^{(i)}(\theta) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} f_{h,0}(2\theta + i)$$

is R-analytic, or R-meromorphic if i = h = 0.

If #(E)=1, then  $\widetilde{c}=0$ , and since  $\delta=0$ , by Proposition 7.1(iv) we have  $c_{I,0,k}=0$  for all I,k with  $I\neq \mathbf{0}$ . Moreover,  $F'_{0,0}(0)=-c_{\mathbf{0},1,0}=\widetilde{\chi}>0$ . So by taking the square root of the previous equation and letting  $\overline{\theta}=\theta\log(\lambda)$ , Lemma 8.1 shows that (9.11) holds with A=1.

9.3. **Miscellaneous examples.** In the next two examples we consider relatively simple sequences  $(E_N)$  of two-element sets with dimension tending to zero, one where both generators tend to zero and another where one of the generators is fixed. These examples illustrate the variety of behavior that can occur when solving (4.1).

**Example 9.6.** Let  $E_N = \{N, N+1\} \rightarrow E = \emptyset$ . Then

(9.12) 
$$\theta = \frac{1}{2\log(N)} \left[ \log(\phi) + \sum_{i=2}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} \frac{c_{i,j}}{N^i \log^j(N)} \right]$$

for all N sufficiently large, where  $c_{i,j} \in \mathbb{Q}[\phi, \log(\phi)]$  for all i, j, where  $\phi \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (1 + \sqrt{5})/2$ . In particular,

$$c_{2,1} = \frac{4\phi^{-1}\log(\phi)}{1+\phi^{-2}}.$$

*Proof.* Since E is empty and the  $E_N$ s are strongly regular, Theorem 4.1 applies and thus (4.1) holds. Now  $\tilde{c} = 1$  and thus for all i,

$$\eta_i = \frac{1}{N^{i+2\theta}} + \frac{1}{(N+1)^{i+2\theta}} = N^{-(i+2\theta)} \left[ 1 + \frac{1}{1+N^{-(i+2\theta)}} \right] = \begin{cases} \widetilde{c} + F_*(N^{-2\theta} - \phi^{-1}) & i = 0\\ F(N^{-(i+2\theta)}) & i > 0, \end{cases}$$

where  $F_*, F$  are  $\mathbb{Q}[\phi]$ -analytic functions with  $F_*(0) = F(0) = 0$ ,  $F'_*(0) = 1 + \phi^{-2} > 0$ , and F'(0) = 2. So  $\xi = F_*(N^{-2\theta} - \phi^{-1})$ , and thus by Corollary 4.2, for all N sufficiently large we have

$$\Xi = G(N^{-1}, \theta, N^{-2\theta} - \phi^{-1})$$

where G is analytic in a neighborhood of  $\mathbf{0}$ ,  $G(\mathbf{0})=0$ , and  $G_{|3}(\mathbf{0})=F'_*(0)c_{\mathbf{0},0,1}=1+\phi^{-2}$ . Moreover, by either Proposition 7.2 or Proposition 7.4, G is  $\mathbb{Q}[\phi]$ -analytic. Since  $S=\emptyset$  and  $\delta=0$ , by Proposition 7.1, solving  $\Xi=0$  for  $N^{-2\theta}-\phi^{-1}$  and then rearranging yields

$$N^{-2\theta} = \phi^{-1} + N^{-2}\theta H(N^{-1}, N^{-1}\theta)$$

where H is  $\mathbb{Q}[\phi]$ -analytic. Taking logarithms and dividing by  $-2\log(N)$ , we see that

$$\theta = \frac{1}{2\log(N)} \left[ \log(\phi) - \log(1 + \phi N^{-2}\theta H(N^{-1}, N^{-1}\theta)) \right].$$

By the implicit function theorem applied to the above equation treating  $\theta$ ,  $N^{-1}$ , and  $\log(N)^{-1}$  as the basic variables, solving for  $\theta$  demonstrates (9.12). To see why the bounds on i and j follow, note that if we substitute  $\alpha = 2\theta \log(N) - \log(\phi)$ , then in the resulting formula all terms are of the form  $N^{-i}\log(N)^{-j}\alpha^k$ , with  $1 \le j \le i-1$ . An induction argument shows that these bounds hold for all terms of the series representing  $\alpha$ .

Now, 
$$c_{2,1} = -\phi \frac{\log(\phi)}{2} H(0,0)$$
, and

$$H(0,0) = \frac{G_{|112}(\mathbf{0})}{G_{|3}(\mathbf{0})} = \frac{(\phi^{-1}F'(0))^2}{F'_*(0)} \cdot \frac{c_{2\{1\},1,0}}{c_{\mathbf{0},0,1}} = \frac{4\phi^{-2}}{1+\phi^{-2}}\nu\beta_{1,0}\beta_{1,1}h,$$

where in the last step we use Proposition 7.1 to ignore the other possible contributions to  $c_{2\{1\},1,0}$ . The calculation is completed by observing that

$$\beta_{1,1}h(x) = \mathbf{Coeff}\left(b^{1}\theta^{1}, e^{\theta v(b,x)}\right) = \mathbf{Coeff}(b^{1}, v(b,x)) = -2x$$

$$\nu\beta_{1,0}\beta_{1,1}h = -2\mathbf{Coeff}\left(b^{1}\theta^{0}, e^{\theta v(b,0)}u_{b}(0)\right) = -2\mathbf{Coeff}\left(b^{1}, b\right) = -2.$$

**Example 9.7.** Let  $E_N = \{1, N\} \to E = \{1\}$ . Then (9.13)

$$\theta = \frac{1}{2\log(N)} \left[ \log\log(N) - \log\log\log(N) + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=[i>0]}^{\infty} \sum_{k=-j}^{\infty} \sum_{\ell=0}^{j+k} c_{i,j,k,\ell} \frac{\log^{\ell}\log\log(N)}{N^{i}\log^{j}(N)\log^{k}\log(N)} \right]$$

for all N sufficiently large, and  $c_{0,0,0,0} = -\log\log(\phi) > 0$ . Notice that in the second summation, we use the Iverson bracket notation:  $[\Phi] = 1$  when  $\Phi$  is true and  $[\Phi] = 0$  when  $\Phi$  is false.

*Proof.* Since E and the  $E_N$ s are strongly regular, Theorem 4.1 applies and thus (4.1) holds. Now

$$\eta_i = \sum_{n \in E_N - E} \frac{1}{n^{i+2(\delta+\theta)}} = N^{-i} N^{-2\theta}$$

and since  $P(E, \delta) = P(E, 0) = \log \#(E) = 0$ , we have  $\tilde{c} = 0$ . Thus by Corollary 4.2 and Proposition 7.1(iv),

$$\Xi = \theta F_0(\theta) + N^{-2\theta} F_1(N^{-2\theta}) + N^{-2\theta} \theta F_2(N^{-1}, \theta, N^{-2\theta})$$

where  $F_0, F_1, F_2$  are analytic in a neighborhood of  $\mathbf{0}$  with  $F_0(\mathbf{0}) = c_{\mathbf{0},1,0} = \widetilde{\chi} = \chi = 2\log(\phi) > 0$  and  $F_1(\mathbf{0}) = c_{\mathbf{0},0,1} = 1 > 0$ . Solving  $\Xi = 0$  for  $N^{-2\theta}$  gives

$$N^{-2\theta} = \theta(2\log(\phi) + \theta g(N^{-1}, \theta)) = 2\theta(\log(\phi) + (1/2)\theta g(N^{-1}, \theta))$$

where g is analytic in a neighborhood of  $\mathbf{0}$ . Thus Lemma 8.1 applies and we have (9.13), with  $c_{0,0,0,0} = -\log\log(\phi)$ . The i = j = 0 case of the summation is ruled out because of the factor  $\theta$  appearing in  $(1/2)\theta g(N^{-1},\theta)$  above.

## 10. Directions to further research

This section concludes this paper by presenting a small sample of problems and research directions, which we hope will partially illustrate the wide scope awaiting future exploration.

We speculate that the key ideas behind our our basic perturbation result, Theorem 2.1, might apply more generally. For instance, it would be interesting to leverage our perturbation theorem or some variant thereof to analyze other functionals that arise in the study of dynamical systems and perturbations thereof.

With a view to developing asymptotic expansions that lie beyond the scope of this paper, here are three concrete CIFSes for which our methods do not directly apply:

- The co-Cantor similarity IFS described in Example 3.2.
- The CIFS  $u_n: x \mapsto (1+x^n)2^{-n}$  for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , described in Example 3.3.
- The prime alphabet Gauss CIFS:  $u_p: x \mapsto (p+x)^{-1}$  for primes p

It may be the case that it is impossible to develop an asymptotic expansion for the last example above, which is an OSC PACIFS unlike the previous two examples.

It is natural to attempt a generalization of our results in  $\S9.2$  where we studied alphabets that were quasi-geometric (e.g. Fibonacci) sequences to the broader class of *constant-recursive* sequences, i.e. sequences satisfying a linear recurrence with constant coefficients. One could consider holonomic or P-recursive sequences, k-automatic sequences, or k-regular sequences. It would be interesting to precipitate connections with ideas familiar to analytic combinatorics and analysis of algorithms communities. Perhaps investigating the coefficient numerology in the asymptotic expansions studied in this paper will lead more directly to such links.

Though the main applications in this article have emphasized the approximation of real numbers by rationals using the simple continued fraction algorithm, there exist several avenues of active research inspired by this particular seam with a multitude of surprising interactions with

dynamical systems and number theory. Dajani and Kraaikamp's Carus monograph [25] is a beautifully written introduction to the ergodic theory of several numeration schemes and continued fraction algorithms; and for higher-dimensional variants see [2, 8, 79, 80]. It would be interesting to leverage our techniques to study analogues of our results in any of these settings.

For instance, one could focus on any one of several existing families of piecewise smooth expanding maps of the interval with infinitely many branches, e.g. those arising from the family of *Japanese continued fractions*, named for Hitoshi Nakada, Shunji Ito, and Shigeru Tanaka – see [11, 16, 24, 61] for these systems and some variations. Furthermore, continued fraction algorithms arising from study of geodesic flows on negatively curved surfaces [10,55], and continued fraction expansions over the field of Laurent series [9, 46, 78, 85] would be natural environs to investigate analogues of our results.

To conclude, here are three scenarios to reconnoiter in the higher-dimensional setting:

- Find analogues of our results for *complex continued fractions*, where one studies the complex analogue of the Gauss CIFS  $\{u_n : x \mapsto (n+x)^{-1} \text{ for } n \in \mathbb{N}\}$  on the unit interval, by replacing  $\mathbb{N}$  with the Gaussian integers with positive real part, and the unit interval with  $B(1/2, 1/2) \subseteq \mathbb{C}$ . Such systems may be profitably studied within the broad framework of conformal graph directed Markov systems (CGDMSes), see [18] and its references.
- CIFS and CGDMS limit sets model several fractals that arise from Sullivan's dictionary [69, 83] (see also [28, Table 1]), which translates between the study of Julia sets associated with holomorphic and meromorphic iteration, and Kleinian limit sets associated with actions of discrete subgroups of isometries of hyperbolic (negatively curved) spaces. Exploring analogues of our results within this broad framework would be very interesting.
- Find analogues of our results beyond the conformal setting, e.g. for infinite self-affine IFSes as studied by Jurga [54], or the broad class of examples studied by Reeve in [74].

## APPENDIX A. COMPUTATION OF COEFFICIENTS

Although we do not state precise formulas for the coefficients  $c_{I,j,k}$  and  $c_{I,j}$  appearing in Theorem 4.1, our proofs do facilitate the construction of such formulas. Namely, Lemmas 6.2 and 6.3 allow us to write  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  in terms of the secondary operators  $\alpha_j$  and  $\beta_{i,j}$ . Plugging these into (2.4) gives the coefficients for the power series  $\Xi$  in terms of  $(\eta_i)$ ,  $\theta$ , and  $\xi$ .

To illustrate this process, we compute Hensley's coefficients  $c_{1,0}$  and  $c_{2,1}$  for the sequence of systems  $E_N = \{1, \ldots, N\} \to E = \mathbb{N}$ , and we show that the formula for  $c_{2,0}$  in (1.3) involves Apery's constant  $\zeta(3)$  as well as the expressions

(A.1) 
$$\mu M_{\phi}QLM_{\phi}g$$
,  $\mu M_{\phi}Qh$ ,  $\nu QLM_{\phi}g$ ,  $\nu Qh$ ,

where the notation is as in §9, and  $M_{\phi}$  denotes multiplication by the function

$$\phi(x) = 2\log(x)$$
.

Note that it appears to be impossible to rewrite even the simplest of these expressions,  $\nu Qh = Q\mathbb{1}(0) = 1 + \sum_{n\geq 1} (L^n\mathbb{1}(0) - 1/\log(2))$ , in closed form. However, all of the expressions can be approximated with arbitrary accuracy.

To this end, in what follows we let  $X = N^{-1}\log(N)$ . Note that since  $\theta = O(N^{-1})$ , we have  $c_{I,j} \eta_I \theta^j \equiv_{X^k} 0$  whenever  $\#(I) + \Sigma(I) + j \geq k$ . In particular, the second-order approximation of (2.4) is

$$\mu \alpha g + \mu \beta g + \mu \Delta Q \Delta g \equiv_{X^3} \Xi = 0.$$

Next we observe that  $\phi \circ u_b(x) = \log |u_b'(x)|$  for all b, x. Thus since  $\delta = 1$ , for all  $j \ge 1$  we have

$$\alpha_j f(x) = \frac{1}{j!} \sum_{b \in S} |u_b'(x)| \log^j |u_b'(x)| \ f \circ u_b(x) = \frac{1}{j!} \sum_{b \in S} |u_b'(x)| (\phi^j f) \circ u_b(x) = \frac{1}{j!} LM_\phi^j f(x)$$

SO

$$\mu \alpha_{j} g = \frac{1}{j!} \mu L M_{\phi}^{j} g = \frac{1}{j!} \mu M_{\phi}^{j} g$$

$$= \frac{2^{j}}{j!} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{\log^{j}(x)}{1+x} dx = \frac{2^{j}}{j!} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{n} \int_{0}^{1} x^{n} \log^{j}(x) dx$$

$$= 2^{j} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{n} \sum_{j'=0}^{j} \frac{(-1)^{j'}}{(n+1)^{j'+1}(j-j')!} \left[x^{n+1} \log^{j-j'}(x)\right]_{x=0}^{1}$$

$$= (-1)^{j} 2^{j} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n}}{(n+1)^{j+1}} = (-1)^{j} 2^{j} (1-2^{-j}) \zeta(j+1)$$

$$= (-1)^{j} (2^{j} - 1) \zeta(j+1)$$

and thus

$$\mu \alpha g = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \theta^j \mu \alpha_j g \equiv_{X^3} \theta \mu \alpha_1 g + \theta^2 \mu \alpha_2 g = -\zeta(2)\theta + 3\zeta(3)\theta^2.$$

On the other hand, by direct computation 13 we have

$$\mu \beta_{0,0} g = 1,$$
  $\mu \beta_{0,1} g = 0,$   $\mu \beta_{1,0} g = \int_0^1 -2x - 1 \, \mathrm{d}x = -2$ 

and

$$\eta_0 \underset{X^3}{\equiv} -\left(\frac{N^{-(1+2\theta)}}{1+2\theta} - \frac{N^{-(2+2\theta)}}{2}\right) \underset{X^3}{\equiv} -\frac{1}{N} + \frac{2\theta \log(N)}{N} + \frac{2\theta}{N} + \frac{1}{2N^2} \underset{X^2}{\equiv} -\frac{1}{N},$$

$$\eta_1 \underset{X^3}{\equiv} -\frac{N^{-(2+2\theta)}}{2+2\theta} \underset{X^3}{\equiv} -\frac{1}{2N^2}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>The second equality is guaranteed by Proposition 7.1(ii).

SO

$$\mu\beta g \stackrel{\equiv}{\underset{X^3}{=}} \eta_0(\mu\beta_{0,0}g + \theta\mu\beta_{0,1}g) + \eta_1(\mu\beta_{1,0}g)$$

$$\stackrel{\equiv}{\underset{X^3}{=}} \left(-\frac{1}{N} + \frac{2\theta\log(N)}{N} + \frac{2\theta}{N} + \frac{1}{2N^2}\right)(1) + \left(-\frac{1}{2N^2}\right)(-2)$$

Finally, since  $\beta_{0,0} = h\nu$ ,  $\mu h = \nu g = 1$ , and  $\mu L = L$ , we have

$$\mu \Delta Q \Delta g \equiv_{X^3} (\theta \mu M_{\phi} + \eta_0 \nu) Q(\theta L M_{\phi} g + \eta_0 h).$$

Next we compute the first-order approximation of  $\Xi$ :

$$\Xi \equiv -\zeta(2)\theta + (-1/N)$$

and so setting  $\Xi=0$  yields  $\theta\equiv_{X^2}-1/\zeta(2)N$ , giving Hensley's first coefficient

$$c_{1,0} = -1/\zeta(2) = -6/\pi^2$$
.

Plugging this into the above formulas gives

$$\theta = \frac{1}{\zeta(2)} \left( \Xi + \zeta(2)\theta \right) \stackrel{=}{=} \frac{1}{\zeta(2)} \left[ -\frac{1}{N} - \frac{2}{\zeta(2)} \frac{\log(N)}{N^2} + \left( \frac{3}{2} - \frac{2}{\zeta(2)} + \frac{3\zeta(3)}{\zeta^2(2)} \right) \frac{1}{N^2} + \left( \frac{1}{\zeta(2)} \mu M_{\phi} + \nu \right) Q \left( \frac{1}{\zeta(2)} L M_{\phi} g + h \right) \frac{1}{N^2} \right].$$

This formula gives Hensley's second coefficient  $c_{2,1}=-2/\zeta^2(2)=-72/\pi^4$ : the next coefficient is

(A.2) 
$$c_{2,0} = \frac{3}{2} - \frac{2}{\zeta(2)} + \frac{3\zeta(3)}{\zeta^2(2)} + \left(\frac{1}{\zeta(2)}\mu M_{\phi} + \nu\right) Q\left(\frac{1}{\zeta(2)}LM_{\phi}g + h\right)$$

Notice that the four terms of (A.1) all appear in this formula.

A.1. Some further coefficients. It turns out to be possible to compute the coefficients  $c_{i,i-1}$  directly without dealing with any coefficients  $c_{i,j}$  such that  $j \leq i-2$ . Namely, let us write  $A \equiv_p B$  if

$$B - A \equiv N^{-p} \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{i} c_{i,j} \frac{\log^{j}(N)}{N^{i}}$$

for some coefficients  $c_{i,j}$ . We can think of this as saying that B-A is "formally  $O(N^{-p})$ ", in a sense where  $N^{-1}\log(N)$  is considered "small" but  $N^{-1}\log^2(N)$  is not considered "small".

Now (2.4) becomes

$$\mu \alpha g + \mu \beta g \equiv \Xi = 0.$$

Moreover, similarly to before we have  $\mu \alpha g \equiv_2 \theta \mu \alpha_1 g = -\zeta(2)\theta$ . On the other hand,

$$\mu\beta g \equiv \eta_0 \mu\beta_{0,0} g = \eta_0 \equiv -N^{-1-2\theta}$$

by the Euler-Maclaurin formula. Thus, (2.4) becomes

$$\zeta(2)\theta \equiv -N^{-(1+2\theta)} = -N^{-1} \exp(-2\theta \log(N)).$$

So we have  $-\zeta(2)N\theta \equiv_2 F(2\log(N)/\zeta(2)N)$ , where

(A.3) 
$$F(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} a_j x^j \quad \text{satisfies} \quad F(x) = \exp(xF(x)),$$

i.e. F is the inverse of  $y \mapsto \log(y)/y$  defined in a neighborhood of 0 and sending 0 to 1. It follows that  $c_{i,i-1} = -(2^{i-1}/\zeta^i(2))a_{i-1}$ .

To compute  $a_j$ , we first recall Cayley's formula: the number of spanning trees on i points is  $T_i = i^{i-2}$ . To produce a recursive formula for  $(T_i)$ , observe that to define a spanning tree on i points, you need to define (a) a partition of the set of i-1 points, (b) spanning trees on each element of the partition, and (c) a root node in each of these spanning trees to connect to the final node to form the overall tree.

Now compare the recursive formulas for  $(a_i)$  and  $(T_i)$ :

$$a_{j} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{\substack{t \in \mathbb{N}^{n} \\ |t|+n=j}} \prod_{k=1}^{n} a_{t_{k}} = \sum_{P \in \mathcal{P}_{j}} \prod_{A \in P} \#(A)! a_{\#(A)-1}$$

$$T = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \prod_{k=1}^{n} \#(A)T$$

$$T_i = \sum_{P \in \mathcal{P}_{i-1}} \prod_{A \in P} \#(A) T_{\#(A)}$$

where  $\mathcal{P}_n$  is the set of all partitions of  $\{1,\ldots,n\}$ . It follows that

$$a_j = \frac{T_{j+1}}{j!} = \frac{(j+1)^{j-1}}{j!}$$
.

So

$$c_{i,i-1} = -\frac{2^{i-1}}{\zeta^i(2)} \frac{i^{i-2}}{(i-1)!},$$

which is equivalent to (1.4) from the introduction.

APPENDIX B. DEFINITION OF A CONFORMAL ITERATED FUNCTION SYSTEM (CIFS)

We recall the definition of a conformal iterated function system (CIFS) due to Mauldin–Urbański.

**Definition B.1** (Cf. [66, p.6-7]). Fix  $d \in \mathbb{N}$ . A collection of maps  $(u_a)_{a \in E}$  is called a *conformal* iterated function system (CIFS) on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  if:

- 1. *E* is a countable (finite or infinite) index set;
- 2.  $X \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$  is a nonempty compact set which is equal to the closure of its interior;
- 3. For all  $a \in E$ ,  $u_a(X) \subseteq X$ ;
- 4. (Cone condition)

$$\inf_{\mathbf{x}\in X, r\in(0,1)} \frac{\lambda(X\cap B(\mathbf{x},r))}{r^d} > 0,$$

where  $\lambda$  denotes Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ;

- 5.  $V \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$  is an open connected bounded set such that  $d(X, \mathbb{R}^d \setminus V) > 0$ ;
- 6. For each  $a \in E$ ,  $u_a$  is a conformal homeomorphism from V to an open subset of V;
- 7. (Uniform contraction)  $\sup_{a \in E} \sup |u'_a| < 1$ , and if E is infinite,  $\lim_{a \in E} \sup |u'_a| = 0$ ;

8. (Bounded distortion property) For all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $\omega \in E^n$ , and  $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in V$ ,

(B.1) 
$$|u'_{\omega}(\mathbf{x})| \asymp_{\times} |u'_{\omega}(\mathbf{y})|,$$

where

$$u_{\omega} = u_{\omega_1} \circ \cdots \circ u_{\omega_n}.$$

The CIFS is called an *OSC CIFS* if in addition it satisfies the *open set condition (OSC)*, i.e. if the collection  $(u_a(\operatorname{Int}(X)))_{a\in E}$  is disjoint.

## REFERENCES

- [1] T. M. Apostol, *An elementary view of Euler's summation formula*, Amer. Math. Monthly **106** (1999), no. 5, 409–418. MR1699259 ←31
- [2] P. Arnoux and T. A. Schmidt, *Natural extensions and Gauss measures for piecewise homographic continued fractions*, Bull. Soc. Math. France **147** (2019), no. 3, 515−544. MR4030549 ←42
- [3] D. L. Banks, A conversation with I. J. Good., Statistical Science 11 (1996), no. 1, 1–19. ←4
- [4] T. Bedford, *Applications of dynamical systems theory to fractals—a study of cookie-cutter Cantor sets*, Fractal geometry and analysis (Montreal, PQ, 1989), 1991, pp. 1–44. MR1140719 ←2
- [5] V. Beresnevich, *Badly approximable points on manifolds*, Invent. Math. **202** (2015), no. 3, 1199–1240. MR3425389
- [6] V. Beresnevich and S. Velani, *Number theory meets wireless communications: an introduction for dummies like us*, preprint 2020. ←2
- [7] V. I. Bernik and M. M. Dodson, *Metric Diophantine approximation on manifolds*, Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, vol. 137, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1999. MR1727177 ←2
- [8] V. Berthé, Multidimensional Euclidean algorithms, numeration and substitutions, Integers 11B (2011), Paper No. A2, 34. MR3054421 ←42
- [9] V. Berthé and H. Nakada, On continued fraction expansions in positive characteristic: equivalence relations and some metric properties, Expo. Math. 18 (2000), no. 4, 257–284. MR1788323  $\leftarrow$  42
- [10] F. P. Boca and C. Merriman, *Coding of geodesics on some modular surfaces and applications to odd and even continued fractions*, Indag. Math. (N.S.) **29** (2018), no. 5, 1214–1234. MR3853422 ←42
- [11] J. Bourdon, B. Daireaux, and B. Vallée, *Dynamical analysis of*  $\alpha$ -Euclidean algorithms, 2002, pp. 246–285. Analysis of algorithms. MR1933201  $\leftarrow$  42
- [12] Y. Bugeaud, *Approximation by algebraic numbers*, Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, vol. 160, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2004. ←2, 3
- [13] Y. Bugeaud, F. Dal'Bo, and C. Druţu (eds.), *Dynamical systems and Diophantine approximation*, Séminaires et Congrès [Seminars and Congresses], vol. 19, Société Mathématique de France, Paris, 2009. MR2841290 ←2
- [14] R. T. Bumby, Hausdorff dimensions of Cantor sets, J. Reine Angew. Math. 331 (1982), 192–206. MR647383  $\leftarrow$ 2
- [15] R. T. Bumby, *Hausdorff dimension of sets arising in number theory*, Number theory (New York, 1983–84), 1985, pp. 1–8. MR803348 ←2
- [16] C. Carminati and G. Tiozzo, A canonical thickening of  $\mathbb Q$  and the entropy of  $\alpha$ -continued fraction transformations, Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems **32** (2012), no. 4, 1249–1269. MR2955313  $\leftarrow$ 42
- [17] E. Cesaratto and B. Vallée, *Small quotients in Euclidean algorithms*, Ramanujan J. **24** (2011), no. 2, 183–218.  $MR2765609 \leftarrow 2$
- [18] V. Chousionis, D. Leykekhman, and M. Urbański, *The dimension spectrum of conformal graph directed Markov systems*, Selecta Math. (N.S.) **25** (2019), no. 3, Art. 40, 74. MR3960790 ←2, 42
- [19] V. Chousionis, D. Leykekhman, and M. Urbański, *On the dimension spectrum of infinite subsystems of continued fractions*, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **373** (2020), no. 2, 1009−1042. MR4068257 ←2

- [20] T. W. Cusick, Continuants with bounded digits, Mathematika 24 (1977), no. 2, 166–172. MR472721  $\leftarrow$ 2
- [21] T. W. Cusick, Continuants with bounded digits. II, Mathematika 25 (1978), no. 1, 107–109. MR498413  $\leftarrow$ 2
- [22] T. W. Cusick, Continuants with bounded digits. III, Monatsh. Math. 99 (1985), no. 2, 105–109. MR781688 ←2
- [23] T. W. Cusick and M. E. Flahive, *The Markoff and Lagrange spectra*, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 30, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1989. MR1010419  $\leftarrow$ 2
- [24] K. Dajani, D. Hensley, C. Kraaikamp, and V. Masarotto, *Arithmetic and ergodic properties of 'flipped' continued fraction algorithms*, Acta Arith. **153** (2012), no. 1, 51–79. MR2899816 ←42
- [25] K. Dajani and C. Kraaikamp, *Ergodic theory of numbers*, Carus Mathematical Monographs, vol. 29, Mathematical Association of America, Washington, DC, 2002. MR1917322 ←42
- [26] S. G. Dani, Divergent trajectories of flows on homogeneous spaces and Diophantine approximation, J. Reine Angew. Math. 359 (1985), 55-89.  $\leftarrow 3$
- [27] S. G. Dani, *On badly approximable numbers, Schmidt games and bounded orbits of flows*, Number theory and dynamical systems (York, 1987), 1989, pp. 69–86. MR1043706 ←2
- [28] T. Das, D. Simmons, and M. Urbański, *Dimension rigidity in conformal structures*, Adv. Math. **308** (2017), 1127–1186. MR3600084 ←42
- [29] M. M. Dodson and S. Kristensen, *Hausdorff dimension and Diophantine approximation*, Fractal geometry and applications: a jubilee of Benoît Mandelbrot. Part 1, 2004, pp. 305–347. MR2112110  $\leftarrow$ 2
- [30] R. S. Falk and R. D. Nussbaum,  $C^m$  eigenfunctions of Perron-Frobenius operators and a new approach to numerical computation of Hausdorff dimension: applications in  $\mathbb{R}^1$ , J. Fractal Geom. 5 (2018), no. 3, 279–337. MR3827801  $\leftarrow$ 2.
- [31] R. S. Falk and R. D. Nussbaum, A new approach to numerical computation of Hausdorff dimension of iterated function systems: applications to complex continued fractions, Integral Equations Operator Theory **90** (2018), no. 5, Art. 61, 46. MR3851775  $\leftarrow$ 2
- [32] L. Fishman, D. Simmons, and M. Urbański, *Diophantine properties of measures invariant with respect to the Gauss map*, J. Anal. Math. **122** (2014), 289–315. MR3183529 ←2
- [33] L. Fishman, D. Simmons, and M. Urbański, *Diophantine approximation and the geometry of limit sets in Gromov hyperbolic metric spaces*, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. **254** (2018), no. 1215, v+137. MR3826896 ←2, 3
- [34] P. Flajolet and B. Vallée, *Continued fraction algorithms, functional operators, and structure constants*, Theoret. Comput. Sci. **194** (1998), no. 1-2, 1–34. MR1491644 ←2
- [35] P. Flajolet and B. Vallée, Continued fractions, comparison algorithms, and fine structure constants, Constructive, experimental, and nonlinear analysis (Limoges, 1999), 2000, pp. 53–82. MR1777617  $\leftarrow$ 2
- [36] R. J. Gardner and R. D. Mauldin, *On the Hausdorff dimension of a set of complex continued fractions*, Illinois J. Math. **27** (1983), no. 2, 334–345. MR694647 ←2
- [37] I. J. Good, *The fractional dimensional theory of continued fractions*, Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. **37** (1941), 199–228. MR4878  $\leftarrow$ 4
- [38] I. J. Good, Corrigenda: "The fractional dimensional theory of continued fractions" [Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. **37** (1941), 199–228; MR0004878], Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. **105** (1989), no. 3, 607. MR985697 ←4
- [39] F. Hausdorff, Dimension und äußeres Maß, Math. Ann. **79** (1918), no. 1-2, 157–179. MR1511917  $\leftarrow$ 2
- [40] S.-M. Heinemann and M. Urbański, *Hausdorff dimension estimates for infinite conformal IFSs*, Nonlinearity **15** (2002), no. 3, 727–734. MR1901102 ←2
- [41] D. Hensley, The distribution of badly approximable numbers and continuants with bounded digits, Théorie des nombres (Quebec, PQ, 1987), 1989, pp. 371–385. MR1024576  $\leftarrow$ 2
- [42] D. Hensley, *The Hausdorff dimensions of some continued fraction Cantor sets*, J. Number Theory **33** (1989), no. 2, 182-198. MR1034198  $\leftarrow$ 2
- [43] D. Hensley, The distribution of badly approximable rationals and continuants with bounded digits. II, J. Number Theory 34 (1990), no. 3, 293–334. MR1049508  $\leftarrow$ 2

- [44] D. Hensley, *Continued fractions*, World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd., Hackensack, NJ, 2006. MR2351741 (2009a:11019) ←2
- [45] D. Hensley, Continued fraction Cantor sets, Hausdorff dimension, and functional analysis, J. Number Theory 40 (1992), no. 3, 336–358. MR1154044  $\leftarrow$  2, 3
- [46] X.-H. Hu, B.-W. Wang, J. Wu, and Y.-L. Yu, Cantor sets determined by partial quotients of continued fractions of Laurent series, Finite Fields Appl. 14 (2008), no. 2, 417–437. MR2401985 ←42
- [47] J. E. Hutchinson, Fractals and self-similarity, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 30 (1981), no. 5, 713–747. MR625600  $\leftarrow$  26
- [48] M. Iosifescu and C. Kraaikamp, *Metrical theory of continued fractions*, Mathematics and its Applications, vol. 547, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 2002. MR1960327 ←2
- [49] V. Jarník, Zur metrischen Theorie der diophantischen Approximationen, Prace mat. fiz. **36** (1928), 91–106 (German). ←3
- [50] O. Jenkinson and M. Pollicott, Computing the dimension of dynamically defined sets:  $E_2$  and bounded continued fractions, Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems **21** (2001), no. 5, 1429–1445. MR1855840  $\leftarrow$ 2
- [51] O. Jenkinson and M. Pollicott, Calculating Hausdorff dimensions of Julia sets and Kleinian limit sets, Amer. J. Math. 124 (2002), no. 3, 495–545. MR1902887  $\leftarrow$ 2
- [52] O. Jenkinson and M. Pollicott, Rigorous effective bounds on the Hausdorff dimension of continued fraction Cantor sets: a hundred decimal digits for the dimension of  $E_2$ , Adv. Math. **325** (2018), 87–115. MR3742587  $\leftarrow$ 2
- [53] O. Jenkinson and M. Pollicott, *Rigorous dimension estimates for Cantor sets arising in Zaremba theory*, Dynamics: topology and numbers, [2020] ©2020, pp. 83–107. MR4062559 ←2
- [54] N. Jurga, *Dimension spectrum of infinite self-affine iterated function systems*, preprint 2020. https://arxiv.org/abs/2004.10630. ←42
- [55] S. Katok and I. Ugarcovici, *Symbolic dynamics for the modular surface and beyond*, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 44 (2007), no. 1, 87–132. MR2265011  $\leftarrow$ 42
- $[56] \ A.\ Y.\ Khinchin, \textit{Continued fractions}, \ The\ University\ of\ Chicago\ Press,\ Chicago,\ Ill.-London,\ 1964.\ MR0161833\ \leftarrow 2$
- [57] D. Kleinbock, N. Shah, and A. Starkov, *Dynamics of subgroup actions on homogeneous spaces of Lie groups and applications to number theory*, Handbook of dynamical systems, Vol. 1A, 2002, pp. 813–930. MR1928528 ←2
- [58] D. E. Knuth, *The art of computer programming. Vol. 2*, Addison-Wesley, Reading, MA, 1998. Seminumerical algorithms, Third edition [of MR0286318]. MR3077153 ←3
- [59] A. V. Kontorovich, From Apollonius to Zaremba: local-global phenomena in thin orbits, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) **50** (2013), no. 2, 187-228. MR3020826  $\leftarrow$ 2
- [60] J. Kotus and M. Urbański, Ergodic theory, geometric measure theory, conformal measures, and the dynamics of elliptic functions, preprint 2020. https://arxiv.org/abs/. ←14
- [61] C. Kraaikamp, T. A. Schmidt, and W. Steiner, *Natural extensions and entropy of*  $\alpha$ -continued fractions, Nonlinearity **25** (2012), no. 8, 2207–2243. MR2946184  $\leftarrow$ 42
- [62] S. Kristensen, Metric Diophantine approximation—from continued fractions to fractals, Diophantine analysis, 2016, pp. 61–127. MR3618744  $\leftarrow$ 2
- [63] J. Kurzweil, *A contribution to the metric theory of diophantine approximations*, Czechoslovak Math. J. **1(76)** (1951), 149–178 (1952) = Čehoslovack. Mat. Ž. 1(76) (1951), 173–203 (1952). MR0051273 ←3
- [64] J. C. Lagarias, *Number theory zeta functions and dynamical zeta functions*, Spectral problems in geometry and arithmetic (Iowa City, IA, 1997), 1999, pp. 45–86. MR1710789 ←2
- [65] D. H. Lehmer, *On the maxima and minima of Bernoulli polynomials*, Amer. Math. Monthly **47** (1940), 533–538. MR2378 ←31
- [66] R. D. Mauldin and M. Urbański, *Dimensions and measures in infinite iterated function systems*, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) **73** (1996), no. 1, 105–154. MR1387085 ←2, 8, 9, 14, 45
- [67] R. D. Mauldin and M. Urbański, *Conformal iterated function systems with applications to the geometry of continued fractions*, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **351** (1999), no. 12, 4995–5025. MR1487636 ←2

- [68] R. D. Mauldin and M. Urbański, *Graph directed Markov systems*, Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, vol. 148, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2003. Geometry and dynamics of limit sets. MR2003772 ←8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 16
- [69] C. T. McMullen, *The classification of conformal dynamical systems*, Current developments in mathematics, 1995 (Cambridge, MA), 1994, pp. 323–360.  $MR1474980 \leftarrow 42$
- [70] C. T. McMullen, Hausdorff dimension and conformal dynamics. III. Computation of dimension, Amer. J. Math. 120 (1998), no. 4, 691–721. MR1637951  $\leftarrow$ 2
- [71] C. G. T. d. A. Moreira, *Dynamical systems, fractal geometry and Diophantine approximations*, Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians—Rio de Janeiro 2018. Vol. I. Plenary lectures, 2018, pp. 731–757. MR3966744 ←2
- [72] S. J. Patterson, *Diophantine approximation in Fuchsian groups*, Philos. Trans. Roy. Soc. London Ser. A **282** (1976), no. 1309, 527–563. MR568140  $\leftarrow$ 3
- [73] G. Ramharter, Extremal values of continuants, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 89 (1983), no. 2, 189–201. MR712621  $\leftarrow$ 2
- [74] H. W. J. Reeve, Infinite non-conformal iterated function systems, Israel J. Math. **194** (2013), no. 1, 285–329.  $MR3047072 \leftarrow 42$
- [75] H. H. Rugh, Cones and gauges in complex spaces: spectral gaps and complex Perron-Frobenius theory, Ann. of Math. (2) 171 (2010), no. 3, 1707–1752. MR2680397  $\leftarrow$  11, 17
- [76] W. M. Schmidt, Badly approximable systems of linear forms, J. Number Theory 1 (1969), 139–154. MR248090 ←3
- [77] W. M. Schmidt, *Diophantine approximation*, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 785, Springer, Berlin, 1980. MR568710 ←2
- [78] W. M. Schmidt, *On continued fractions and Diophantine approximation in power series fields*, Acta Arith. **95** (2000), no. 2, 139–166. MR1785412 ←42
- [79] F. Schweiger, *Ergodic theory of fibred systems and metric number theory*, Oxford Science Publications, The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1995. MR1419320 ←42
- [80] F. Schweiger, *Multidimensional continued fractions*, Oxford Science Publications, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2000. MR2121855 ←42
- [81] J. Shallit, Real numbers with bounded partial quotients: a survey, Enseign. Math. (2) **38** (1992), no. 1-2, 151–187. MR1175525  $\leftarrow$ 2
- [82] D. Simmons, *A Hausdorff measure version of the Jarník-Schmidt theorem in Diophantine approximation*, Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. **164** (2018), no. 3, 413–459. MR3784262 ←3
- [83] D. P. Sullivan, Conformal dynamical systems, Geometric dynamics (Rio de Janeiro, 1981), 1983, pp. 725–752. MR730296  $\leftarrow$ 42
- [84] B. Wang and J. Wu, *A survey on the dimension theory in dynamical Diophantine approximation*, Recent developments in fractals and related fields, 2017, pp. 261–294. MR3775468 ←2
- [85] J. Wu, Hausdorff dimensions of bounded-type continued fraction sets of Laurent series, Finite Fields Appl. 13 (2007), no. 1, 20–30. MR2284664  $\leftarrow$  42

University of Wisconsin-La Crosse, Department of Mathematics & Statistics, 1725 State Street, La Crosse, WI 54601, USA

Email address: tdas@uwlax.edu

URL: https://sites.google.com/a/uwlax.edu/tdas/

University of North Texas, Department of Mathematics, 1155 Union Circle #311430, Denton, TX 76203-5017, USA

Email address: lior.fishman@unt.edu
URL: http://math.unt.edu/lior-fishman

University of York, Department of Mathematics, Heslington, York YO10 5DD, UK

Email address: david9550@gmail.com

URL: https://sites.google.com/site/davidsimmonsmath/

University of North Texas, Department of Mathematics, 1155 Union Circle #311430, Denton, TX 76203-5017, USA

Email address: urbanski@unt.edu
URL: http://www.urbanskimath.com/